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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  I’m Senator Ortiz.  I chair the Senate Health and Human Services Committee, and I’m joined here today by my colleagues, who will have an opportunity to introduce themselves.


Let me thank the public for joining us.  I’ll go ahead and make an opening statement and then allow my colleagues an opportunity.


The Senate Health and Human Services Committee is meeting today on the question of potential exposure to toxic substances at the Beverly Hills High School, and the question that we are to entertain here today is:  What is the state and local governments’ role in preventing and mitigating environmental health risks in California’s schools?


I want to thank everyone for attending.  I appreciate the level of awareness and commitment that has been brought to this important issue.  That is why the committee rescheduled the hearing from our earlier date so that we could afford everyone an opportunity to participate. 


The health of our children is a top priority in California, and it’s our job as legislators, school administrators, and government agencies to provide a safe and productive environment for their educational experience in every school across California.  We’re here today to look at what has become a complicated and confusing situation at the Beverly Hills High School and examine what, if anything, can be done to prevent similar situations in the future.


I believe that the problems that arose in addressing the concerns of environmental health risks at Beverly Hills High are not isolated to this incident but, rather, may be seen in similar situations across the state.  For example, near Sacramento in El Dorado County, the school district is dealing with naturally occurring asbestos abatement on several other campuses and have had to work with state and federal agencies to address the problem.


As we all know, there are many schools across the state, especially here in Los Angeles, where there may be a potential environmental hazard, especially in schools that were built prior to environmental health standards being developed to prevent potential risks.  


We’re not here today to arrive at any conclusions concerning the outstanding litigation over the Beverly Hills High School situation.  We’re here to look at the overarching policy questions that have arisen out of this situation and to consider the potential statewide implications.


There are several policy questions that I would like to address today.  The first question is:  What is the state’s role when potential health risks arise on school campuses in California?  Should the state take on a greater role through the schools’ programs within the Department of Toxic Substances Control?  And they will be here to help us answer that question.


It is my understanding that in the case of the Beverly Hills High School, the South Coast Air Quality Management District levied civil penalties against Venoco for air quality violations.  Because civil penalties were levied, criminal prosecution could not be pursued for these violations.  Why is it in the case of air quality violations in California that the regulatory and enforcement agencies can only pursue either criminal or civil penalties, or in the cases of water protection or soil contamination violations, both enforcement means are available?


I’ve introduced a piece of legislation to address this anomaly; to remove the criminal prosecution option.  SB 1211 is here and available for the public to review.


In order to keep the hearing within our allotted period of time, I’ve asked those who will be testifying to keep within your given time.  The committee has provided all of those that have regulatory authority three questions I’d like you to address in your testimony, and these are the three key questions that will guide the testimony throughout the hearing for those who are speaking on behalf of the regulatory authorities.


Those questions are:

· When did you become aware that there were concerns about potential health risks at Beverly Hills High?


The second question is:

· What did you do in response to these concerns?

And finally, the third question is:

· What are your legal obligations in such a situation, and do you believe you’ve fulfilled those obligations?


There may be additional questions from my colleagues.  For those of you who have long written testimony, rather than read it before the committee, please submit it.  The sergeants are available and the staff are available to bring that to my colleagues, and we’ll have time to read that.  I would discourage you from reading long statements, if it’s at all possible to avoid that, because we can share those and then get to the key questions that are essential for my colleagues who will be deciding on policy in the Legislature.


I would like to now extend the opportunity to members of the committee to make opening comments.  


Also, let me, just for the record, let the public know, as is customary when we go into any community and hold hearings that affect local elected officials’ jurisdictions, whether they be city councils or school board members, it is a courtesy of this chair—and others, I believe—to extend the invitation to have those elected officials join us.  I’ve invited the vice mayor of Beverly Hills, Mark Egerman, to join us today, and I do appreciate that he has agreed to serve us and provide an opening statement.  He is joined by his attorney because there is pending litigation.  His attorney’s role, as is appropriate, is to assure that his comments are in no way on the litigation before the school district.  That is a common courtesy we extend.  It is one that I expect to honor and hope my colleagues will honor as well; but more importantly, that the public will understand and respect that that is the role that we play.  We honor the office, whatever our disagreements may be with the institution.  So, I thank the vice mayor for joining us, and I will allow you an opportunity after my colleagues weigh in with their opening comments.  But thank you for joining us.


VICE MAYOR MARK EGERMAN:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Aanestad?  The vice chair goes first.


SENATOR SAM AANESTAD:  Well, thank you.


As I got up this morning in Northern California, in the Tahoe Forest, with a beautiful day and the geese flying overhead, I was saying, Why am I going down there?  


The fact of the matter is, this is an important hearing for many reasons.  There’ve been very serious claims made here concerning the health and welfare of students in the State of California, especially in the Beverly Hills community, and there’s a lot of concern about the process which the community has gone through in the last year to try to resolve some of those concerns.


The school district, the city of Beverly Hills, the county, and the state have spent last year investigating and reporting on all of these claims, and I’m very interested in learning about their findings and what we’ve learned from this situation in the last year.


Now, as a health professional, I have to say that I have to rely on scientific data, and I’ve studied the testing procedures and the results, so far, that I’ve seen—as many of the results of the tests that I can obtain—and quite frankly, I’m kind of curious as to how we got this far to begin with.


So, I’m here today to learn firsthand about any scientific data or evidence that can be presented that says that these claims have merit.  I’m convinced that after today, as in the op-ed in the LA Times today, there will be some chance to clear the air.  And I hope that we hear evidence, not emotionalism, not expediential experiences; otherwise, I think this hearing is a waste of time.  Let’s hear what we know and what the experts know and what we’ve found, and let’s hear just that.  And I’m hoping that the media, who I think in the last year has kind of sensationalized this quite a bit and not reported quite fully in the reports that I read up in Northern California, will do a fair job today in reporting to the people of California what happened here.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Escutia?


SENATOR MARTHA ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Actually, in terms of environmental contamination at school sites, I know exactly what that is all about since a lot of my schools in my district lie in contaminated sites.  As a matter of fact, in the year 2000, I was the author of the bill that established a role for the Department of Toxics to intervene and do the environmental assessments on new construction.  So, obviously, Madam Chair, I am here to see how that law has worked and, if it has worked, how it can be improved in order to address the issues affecting Beverly Hills High School.


So, I look forward to the information being gathered.  I do think that any kind of hearing that brings both parties to the table in order for both parties to state their case to the best of the ability on the merits is always a good thing.  So, I look forward to the hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Escutia.


Senator Kuehl?


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I extend a welcome as well.  Many of the people in the audience are my constituents because Beverly Hills is in my Senate district.  


Like the chair and other members of the committee, I’m here to hear what everyone has to say.  I may disagree a little bit with my colleague about the difference between scientific and anecdotal evidence, having spent a great deal of time in various movements in which the only way anything came to light was when people told their stories because no one believed them until then.  I’m glad to hear all of the information brought forward to this committee because I think everyone has the same goal, and that is the safety of the students, the teachers, the staff, and the community in and around the high school.


We are not here to litigate the case, and therefore, we will not come to a conclusion about who’s right and who’s wrong.  But the state does play a role in protecting the health of its residents, and in that sense, we want to know whether we’re doing an adequate job and whether we need to look at other ways or additional ways in which we may protect, especially, students who are vulnerable going to school.


So, I look forward to the information to be presented.  I thank you for putting this together and will undoubtedly have questions, as will the rest of the panel.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


I believe our last elected representative to provide opening comments is the vice mayor.


VICE MAYOR EGERMAN:  Mark Egerman, city of Beverly Hills.  Thank you.


I’d like to thank Chairperson Ortiz for inviting me to join the members of the committee on the dais today as we discuss the response by the city and the school district of Beverly Hills and the response of the state to allegations which first surfaced a year ago February on CBS News.  


Beverly Hills High School is a very special place.  It is our only high school.  It has special meaning to me.  My mother attended and graduated from Beverly Hills High School.  I met my wife at Beverly Hills High School.  My children attended Beverly Hills High School.  My six nieces and nephews attended Beverly Hills High School.  And yes, there is in my family two people very close to me that are cancer survivors who did attend the school.  So, I have both a professional interest as well as a very personal interest in ensuring that the truth be aired and that all steps be taken to ensure that the high school is safe for our children.


John Borsun, who is the head of the California Teachers Association in Beverly Hills, has asked me to deliver a letter.  John could not be here today because he is with our academic decathlon team in Sacramento competing.  They’re a wonderful group of students.  But I do have a letter from him which I would like placed in the record on his behalf.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll do that.


VICE MAYOR EGERMAN:  It’s not every day that a teacher can get a vice mayor to be the messenger to deliver the information.


As you’ll hear today from the city, when this first allegation was aired on CBS News, the city council and the school board as a team took immediate action to retain CDM to do exhaustive, scientific testing to determine what the state of the high school was.  The city literally wrote a blank check for them to design their own testing program without any input from the district or the city to ensure that we would have objective and accurate test results that we could then act on if necessary.


After a year of testing, I can state that all of the tests done by CDM, AQMD, and the district show that the high school is safe, show that all levels are below the norm, and that we have a safe environment for our children, for our teachers, and for our residents.  The city attorney will go into this in greater detail when he presents the information to the committee.


And I, once again on a personal basis, wish to thank the chairperson for her personal courtesy.  We very much appreciate it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You are more than welcome, and I thank you for joining us.  I know it’s been a difficult year for the district as well and the city.


I believe Senator Alarcón will be joining us and possibly Senator Vincent.  So, as they come forward, if they desire to make a comment on the record, we’ll allow them to do so, depending on our time availability.


With that, I think the really important part of the hearing should begin.  


Let me invite our first speaker, Ms. Jody Kleinman, who is a parent at Beverly Hills, to come forward.  I believe you’ve been advised that you have ten minutes.  We’ll start the timer, and we’ll be pretty aggressive about that, but I’m sure you’re going to be cooperative.


MS. JODY KLEINMAN:  I’ll try my best.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Welcome.


MS. KLEINMAN:  Thank you for having this hearing today.


It’s been over a year now—over a year—and still my child today is on that playing field breathing into her lungs air that is still not properly monitored.  Parents are caught in the middle; in the middle, on the one hand, of lawyers telling us that our children’s high school air was and still might be toxic and causing cancer and, on the other hand, government agencies reassuring us that everything is safe, there’s no health risks, and our school has been appropriately investigated.


Everyone seems so busy defending current and potential lawsuits that valid community concerns have been neglected.  Instead of conducting the proper assessments, lawyers, lobbyists, and public relations firms have been hired.  The agencies given the task of protecting public health and safety have been asleep at the wheel.  My child is on that school campus right now while everyone argues with each other.  Government agencies act as though they really do have something to hide from us.  They’ve not been held accountable.  No one wants a clean bill of health declared for our school, past, present, and future, more than I do.  But if problems exist today, let’s get it cleaned up.  Shame on all of us if we don’t.


I ask for your help today.  I want you to create an oversight committee composed of all the relevant regulatory agencies, community and parent representatives, and independent experts selected by the community.  I ask that these meetings be public and monthly to begin.  I want you to recognize that air samplings conducted at our school were not consistent with state and federal guidelines.  Appropriate air monitoring needs to be conducted.  And I want you to hold every agency involved in conducting school site assessments responsible for recognizing and adopting state methodology guidelines for assessing new and existing schools.  Each agency must be held to consistent statewide standards.  And I want you also to question our city why we still have no methane gas regulations to protect our schools and community.


Let me first comment on my two older daughters, both recent graduates of Beverly Hills High School.  I’m concerned about what exposures they may have received.  The information I’ve been provided does not give me an estimate or even a clue about past exposures.  How can air samples taken only on a limited number of days last year in a limited number of locations possibly address questions about their past exposures ten years ago or even three years ago?  They can’t.


What I can address today is the safety of my child at the school right now.  It’s horrifying to think that one year later she may still be at risk.  Our community has been given incomplete pieces of information from various agencies.  We still do not have what we need:  a comprehensive exposure and health risk assessment.  I believe, as do others, that sufficient information has not been collected to conclude that our campus is either safe or dangerous.  We teach all our elementary school kids to follow the scientific method:  when two discrepant findings surface and either could be correct, investigate the discrepancies until what you have, what we believe, is an accurate conclusion.  Unfortunately, the grownups have failed to do this.


Parents asked our city and our school district to conduct public forums and create an independent oversight committee.  This was at the very beginning.  We were denied.  Instead, a select and invited group of parents were allowed a few private meetings with city officials and their consultants.  I attended but was not allowed to bring any outside independent experts.  Questions went unanswered, and the meetings were terminated.


The Department of Toxic Substances Control’s participation was discussed at these meetings.  We were assured that even if our city did not engage the services of DTSC, the city’s consultants would follow the DTSC’s proposal and be able to provide the exact same soil test much more quickly.  For unexplained reasons, the city reversed their decision and informed us then that no soil test would be conducted at all.  Serious concerns were again raised by the parents about DTSC’s lack of participation and the city’s decision not to conduct soil tests.  Sometime after that meeting, the city reversed itself again and announced that some soil testing would be conducted.  It was not, however, the testing that DTSC had recommended.


Coincidentally, a geotechnical firm conducting soil sampling for the new science building at the north end of the campus—and this is on the southern end—discovered an unknown (and I quote) “oily material” under the ground.  Why wasn’t this found during the original environmental testing?  What is it?  Should it be removed?  Wouldn’t a proper assessment of our entire campus have already provided us those answers?  


In the school newspaper, over the last thirty years, students have documented offensive industrial odors that they and others could smell on the campus.  Why didn’t our school district take an aggressive role in investigating those odors?  


We know that potentially explosive methane gas is under our school.  Everyone agrees with that one fact.  How much and where is still unclear.  City consultants have all recommended periodic monitoring for our entire campus.  The city of Los Angeles and Los Angeles Unified School District have monitoring protocols.  Beverly Hills still does not.  Please ask our city why not.


Parents have spoken at city council and school board meetings expressing fears and concerns.  We’ve called agency after agency seeking help.  Over 2,000 signatures have been collected requesting that our city shut down oil and gas production on our campus.  We’re still waiting for someone to hear us.  Parents asked the South Coast Air Quality Management District to hold public town hall meetings—a forum they commonly provide other communities.  They denied our request.  


What we did hear was that AQMD was in contact with our city.  We were kept out of those conversations.  Instead, we received written communications telling us not to worry; everything was fine; the school was safe.  How could anyone tell us from air samples taken on a limited number of days and locations last year what health risks our children face today and in the future?  On some of those sampling days, oil and gas production was partially or even completely shut down.  What those monitorings told us was only for those days and nothing more.  Elevated chemical concentration in those air samples have never been adequately explained to us.


By AQMD’s own admission (and I quote), “At least one full year of data is strongly recommended to represent exposure potential to effectively quantify chronic risk estimates.”  I suspect that AQMD will describe the two fence monitors they required Venoco to install.  Experts have explained to me how emission plumes actually travel.  Installing two fence monitors alone does not comply with regulatory guidelines nor will it answer what the air concentrations are everywhere else at the school.  How could AQMD possibly say it will?


Outside experts and government agency representatives reviewed these air monitoring tests, and according to AQMD’s own MATES-II study, the conclusions given to the community about the health effects on our children could simply not be drawn from the data.  AQMD would not engage in meaningful dialogue about these questions.


As part of the AQMD settlement, Venoco—the past offender—is still primarily allowed to self-monitor and self-report.  AQMD’s own highly publicized, current multimillion-dollar lawsuit against BP ARCO is based on AQMD’s own admission that oil companies have lied when required to self-report.  But AQMD designed a punishment for Venoco that requires us to trust a company that has repeatedly lied to us.  Venoco repeatedly said that their equipment was in excellent working order while, at the very same time, they were receiving multiple violation notices for excessive toxic admissions, improper gas venting, poor maintenance, and equipment failures.  Who’s really being punished here?


According to internal AQMD documents, inspectors had troubling concerns about methane gas over a year ago.  Although I requested public documents detailing each inspection of Venoco, I never received this information until it was reported on the news almost one year later.  Instead, what was actually happening the day after the AQMD inspection last February—what was happening was my child was out on the track just a few feet away and we were not told.  This is a system that is failing.


When I learned the extent of Venoco’s violations, I contacted the district attorney’s office.  I inquired about criminal charges.  I was assured that the DA’s office would investigate.  I was told that members of the DA’s office thought there was a strong criminal case.  What happened next is unclear.  AQMD and the district attorney’s office apparently conducted private negotiations.  The end result was that AQMD levied the only fine I still don’t understand.


The regulatory agencies seem to have a mindset that protects the interests of the very industries they are supposed to regulate.  The Division of Oil and Gas and AQMD have clearly been deficient in physical inspections and scrutiny of oil and gas facilities.  They simply continue a war with each other.  No agency seems to have the expertise to oversee all the various regulatory programs associated with air, soil, and water.  And I’m not suggesting that any one agency should.  At this point, there’s no single agency I trust.


For years the State Legislature has established assessment procedures designed to protect individuals arriving at new or reconstructed schools.  In fact, you and your colleagues have established a standard of care for evaluating the impact of preexisting hazardous conditions on students.  Clearly, this standard of care must apply to all environmental studies which involve the assessment of potential toxic exposures and potential safety hazards to our children.  This would include a study of all potential sources that might be impacting our school site, including, but not limited to, Venoco.  This assessment would begin to answer my continuing questions about the tons of emissions also generated by Sempra—the power plant located adjacent to our school; an industrial facility that has also been issued a number of violation notices.


Technical experts have guided me through the complicated maze of air and soil analysis.  When I review the information provided and ask independent experts and even staff within these same agencies to explain it to me, I’m often told that the information is insufficient, misleading, or it doesn’t make sense.  Public emission figures contain mistakes.  Public record documents are often difficult to obtain, incomplete, and inaccurate.  The report provided by our city contains mistakes.  The EPA and California Air Resources Board staff helped me understand the information.  As one EPA official stated (and I quote), “No wonder you can’t understand this information.  It’s wrong and meaningless.”  If I as a nonscientist am catching all these mistakes, what would somebody objectively and independently analyzing this data find?


Experts agree that most chemicals have not been tested at all for safe exposure levels for children.  It’s unreasonable for all of us to be asking ourselves whether. . . . it’s reasonable for all of us to be asking ourselves whether or not industrial facilities should be located at or near school sites.  Commonsense tells me that they should not.


What is it that I hope from today?  I’m hoping for an independent oversight committee, an ongoing air monitoring system, methane gas regulations in Beverly Hills, and that we hold all the agencies involved in conducting site assessments responsible in recognizing the state’s guidelines for new and existing schools.  We need consistency.  Until then, I am left with partial answers and enormous doubt about the protection of our children.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ms. Kleinman.


Ms. Kleinman?  There may be questions of my colleagues.  I want to thank you for adhering fairly closely to the time limits.  


Let me allow my colleague who has arrived—Senator Alarcón—to provide an opening comment, and then there may be questions of you.  


Welcome.  Thank you for joining us.


SENATOR RICHARD ALARCÓN:  No opening comment; just that we want to hear from you.  This is critical to all high schools, not just to Beverly Hills.  We absolutely want to hear from you more than us.  We’ll speak after we make findings and hear from the community.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  Mrs. Kleinman, a couple of questions.


I understand your statement was primarily concerned with the protocols, the procedures, or lack thereof, and your frustration in dealing with the agencies—the bureaucracy—which is, I think, why a lot of us sitting up here ran for office, is because we feel that very same frustration and want to do something about it.  


But I didn’t hear you talk a whole lot about your feelings about the risk to students or their health—the actual risk out there—and I’m wondering if your concern is more with the lack of protocol so that you can be assured as a parent that things are safe or you believe there is definitely a risk to students out there.


MS. KLEINMAN:  That’s a fair question.  I really can’t comment scientifically on whether there’s risks or not.  What I can tell you is when I’ve gone through all of the data that was provided from both AQMD and our city—I’ve gone through it myself, and I have a consultant that has been helping me get through the data because there’s a lot and I don’t understand all of it; I’m not a scientist—there were several chemicals—benzene, toluene, and hexane—that were higher levels than what I would like to see on a campus, and they were never truly explained.  They were recognized as higher.  They were sometimes even higher than, say, the City of Industry or Burbank figures, but it was never explained to us.  


The methane gas, I’m very concerned about that.  It’s explosive.  I don’t know whether it’s toxic.  That’s my main concern is that my daughter’s right there the day after the AQMD inspector said he left because he was worried about a methane gas explosion.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  I guess that’s part of my confusion is if you believe there’s a risk.  Your daughter is still there.


MS. KLEINMAN:  Right.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  So, the risk to you as a mother can’t necessarily be as high as at least going to the point of, Hey, I’m taking my kid out of this school.  So, it’s more of a concern with you want the bureaucracy—the state, the district—to be able to say to you, Yes, here’s the testing, here’s the science, and yes, it’s safe.


MS. KLEINMAN:  Right.  And follow the protocol.  I have the state protocol for assessing risk sites.  So, I’m just basically asking it from this point forward.  


Have I taken my kid out of the school?  No, I haven’t yet.  Do I think we need to do a better job?  Yes.  Am I saying that these things cause the cancer?  No, I’m not saying that.  I’m not in the lawsuit.  I’m only here representing my children, and that’s it.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  And we’re glad to hear that.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think it’ll be more helpful when we hear from AQMD because, indeed, there was a civil penalty assessed.  They’ll give the levels of exposure that exceeded the permissible levels.


MS. KLEINMAN:  When you get the list of the Notices of Violation and you have them in your hand and you’re looking at all of the times AQMD came out and cited the oil company . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think Senator Aanestad’s questions were answered, but I have other colleagues who would like to ask questions.


Senator Kuehl?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Ms. Kleinman, I want to thank you for doing this.  A lot of people that will testify to us today come in regularly to testify to committees and answer questions and report about their budgets and do all sorts of things.  Often, people who are just engaged in their daily lives in our cities don’t take the time to do it, so I want to thank you very much for that.  And also, I feel, personally, you probably represent a lot of parents who are simply concerned.  I mean, they don’t know yet, but I think anyone with a child in any school, they wonder if it’s safe, whether it’s a physical environment in terms of a kid bringing an unloaded skeet shooter to school, or whatever it is; that there is a concern.  And I think you are here and invited by the chair to represent those very natural concerns and to ask the state and the city and the district to do what we think they should do by law to at least get sufficient information, as I understand it.


Does that sort of summarize your reasons for being here?


MS. KLEINMAN:  Absolutely.  I think there are state and federal guidelines for assessing a potential hazard.  That’s what I urge to have followed at Beverly Hills High School.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


I neglected to ask each of the speakers, as they come forward, to, on the front end, clarify whether they’re a party to any lawsuit, and I appreciate that you shared that at the end; that you’re not a plaintiff in the lawsuit.


MS. KLEINMAN:  I’m not a party in any lawsuit.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  I think that’s important.


Senator Escutia?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Madam Chairwoman.


Just to clarify—and following up on what Senator Kuehl indicated with regard to the remedies that perhaps you are seeking—so that it is clear, the current law allows Department of Toxics to basically come in and to do this environmental assessment according to a state protocol, and that was a law that was heavily, heavily debated; heavily, heavily amended.  I know; I was the author.  For clarification, you all know that law right now only applies to new construction, new modernization activities.  It does not apply to existing schools.  Obviously, you are coming here to ask us as the Legislature to consider changing that law to add that environmental template to apply to existing schools.


Is that correct?


MS. KLEINMAN:  I think DTSC—it’s a missing part of the puzzle.  I hesitate to say that I would want any one agency at this point completely in control of it because we’ve seen so much misinformation given to us and so much, I want to say, turf wars between the agencies.  I don’t know that I would be comfortable with just DTSC overseeing this without some independent representation that I don’t feel that we have.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  But you are comfortable with the notion that we have to have some type of a state standard of environmental cleanup and enforcement apply to existing schools.


MS. KLEINMAN:  Absolutely.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Other questions from other members?


Let me thank you, Ms. Kleinman.  I know you’re a little bit intimidated coming forward, but you did a great job, and I thank you.


VICE MAYOR EGERMAN:  Can I just reassure Jody of one thing?  And we’ve talked about this a lot, Jody.  I just want to reassure you that the city and district are committed to ongoing air testing by CDM.  The latest series of tests was last December.  We have put those results on the websites.  We are going to continually monitor and test far, far, far into the future.  So, ongoing testing is occurring.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Our next speaker is Mr. Stephen Williams, who is a parent also at Beverly Hills High.  Like Ms. Kleinman, your testimony is ten minutes.


DR. STEPHEN WILLIAMS:  It’ll be much more succinct than that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Welcome.


DR. WILLIAMS:  Thank you.  My name is Stephen Williams.  Thank you for having me.  


My wife and I moved our son, sort of kicking and screaming, from a very high-profile private school in the valley about four years ago to the Beverly Hills School District (to El Rodeo initially) where he now is a happy and thriving sophomore at Beverly Hills High.  In fact, he was at Buckley School in the valley to which he had a certain amount of toxic reactions to that environment.  


But I think importantly, and perhaps interestingly, I also have a technical background.  I have a Ph.D. in pharmacology from Duke University.  I studied environmental toxicology and practiced environmental toxicology at the DuPont Haskell Laboratory for Toxicology and Industrial Medicine.  In fact, I set threshold limit values for workers’ exposure to chemicals under an industrial hygiene setting.  So, I’m a bit familiar with the kinds of testing and the implications for that kind of testing that are done.  In that regard, I just have a few comments and observations.


I’ve been involved in sitting with the committees as the data has been reviewed, as the experiments have been designed, through the school district over the past year as well, as Jody has.  I just want to provide some sort of high-level conclusions that I have, and I’m not going to end with any public policy recommendations or anything because I haven’t thought those out.  I’m not sure who’s qualified to do that.


But first and foremost, I believe that based on the substantial evidence that has been developed—and I think, from my experience, there’s a lot of evidence around a body of a school—that the Beverly Hills High School provides a safe physical environment for our son, and the existence of the oil well, as I can see it, poses no additional health risk to him or to any other student or teacher in that school or resident of the community.  It’s not very pretty, but I don’t think it’s doing anything deleterious.


Again, from the data that I’ve seen, the quality of the air on and around Beverly Hills High School property, though certainly not perfect, is no different from the air that we all have chosen to breathe by choosing to live in the L.A. Basin.  I studied the L.A. Basin in the early seventies, and it’s a heck of a lot better than it was then. 


We would—and I’m speaking for my wife and myself.  For example, we’d much rather have our child running around on the athletic field and breathing the air there than going into the bathrooms and inhaling side-stream smoke from people who choose to smoke cigarettes there.  We would rather have our child running on the athletic field than standing on Olympic Boulevard and breathing auto emissions and microparticles of rubber (asbestos) from break linings and other junk produced by the wear and tear of the thousands of cars that pass this high school every day on Olympic Boulevard and other parts of the city.  And in the context of exposure to oil well related emissions, all of this might be much preferred to taking our child to visit the La Brea tar pits, for example, which constitute open pools of volatile hydrocarbons.  So, I’m just trying to put this in sort of practical reality terms.  


Furthermore, to put this in perspective, there’s a great body of evidence that exists from studies that have been done for many years that proximity to oil wells per se and products of refineries do not pose an increased health risk to people who work in them.  There have been many, many comprehensive epidemiological studies of oil refinery workers, oil rig and platform workers, gas station attendants, yada, yada, that have not shown any unusual illnesses specifically or any increases in cancer.


Also, following a series of well-controlled, exhaustive studies commissioned by the school district under many different environmental conditions and under a range of operational parameters of the oil well—environmental parameters,          et cetera—no evidence to my satisfaction, my personal satisfaction, has been produced to show that there are any unusual levels of any dangerous chemicals to be present on or near the school property and certainly that emit from the oil well.


In addition, in my opinion, there is no evidence of any increased rates of cancer or any other acute or chronic illnesses within a reasonable radius of the school, either among students or long-term residents of the community.  And certainly, the kinds of cancers that initially were alleged by the kinds of chemicals or that would have been induced by the kinds of chemicals—for example, benzene—are not concentrated in this population, which would be leukemia.


Finally, and I think most disturbingly, I think the legal team that decided to bring the action that will really spark this produced a few spurious results early in some rather clandestine sampling that no experts so far in any forum of open communications, scientific planning, and at significant expense have been able to reproduce, putting us as parents in the rather impossible position of either trying to prove a negative—that is, we’re trying to prove that there’s zero risk for our kids—or to chase ghosts of toxicity that we’re told exists.  


In short, as a resident, parent, and informed scientist, I believe that this is an opportunistic legal scam designed to be maximally sensationalistic with promise of large legal settlements by tickling the most sensitive nerves of what I characterize as a rather liberal, very affluent, child-focused, environmentally conscious community that is by and large not technically savvy and is prone to react radically to the specter of anything that is labeled “toxic.”  Our community was cynically and strategically selected for maximum impact in the media.  In fact, there is so laughably little historical or contemporary evidence of anything deleterious, it can be nothing else.  I’m sure the screenplay for this one is already being written.


Folks, the oil well is not the problem.  The problem is that the legal system permits and encourages flushing away precious funds in the midst of ever-increasing budget constraints to feed the fortunes of the legal vultures to the detriment of the education of our children by raising the unrealistic hope and expectations among a few plaintiffs who are ill and who, of course, will seek remedy any way they can.  The crime is this:  we, the community, the state, the school board, and students already have lost by engaging, and there’s no real way out.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Williams, I think there’s some questions for you, so let me allow my colleagues first to ask questions.


Senator Alarcón and then Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  When you said this was a liberal community and people were taking advantage of the left leanings, my first reaction was I resemble that remark.  


You mentioned many studies in your presentation.  Do any of these studies specify findings relative to teenagers?


DR. WILLIAMS:  There are not many teenagers who work on oil rigs.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  That’s a very good point.  But my question was, are you aware of any report that focuses on the development of teenagers?


DR. WILLIAMS:  I’m aware of a lot of reports that focus on the development of teenagers.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Relative to . . . ?


DR. WILLIAMS:  To toxic chemicals?  To pharmaceuticals.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Their physical development relative to a reaction to toxic chemicals.


DR. WILLIAMS:  To pharmaceuticals—which are toxic chemicals.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  I don’t need an education, sir.  I don’t need an education.  I’m asking you a very serious question.  Are you aware of any relative studies that focus on teenagers?  We all know that the development of teenagers is very different than the development of adults on rigs—on oil rigs.  What I’m asking you is, can you name a study that says that the same kinds of chemicals that you spoke of in your report pertain. . . . the findings pertain to teenagers?


DR. WILLIAMS:  No.  Not with environmental chemicals specifically.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  The first witness, who is also a parent of children at Beverly Hills High, indicated that she did not feel there had been sufficient testing.  Your testimony, though you went far beyond saying this, is you do feel there’s been sufficient testing, and from your point of view, you feel there is no threat to the health of any of the students or staff at the high school.


DR. WILLIAMS:  There’s no excess threat versus living anywhere else in the L.A. Basin.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Are they mandated to stand on the corner of Olympic and Bundy?


DR. WILLIAMS:  No.


SENATOR KUEHL:  But they are mandated to go to the high school every day.


DR. WILLIAMS:  They are.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I do understand comparison and the use of comparison here, and I do know that you’re sincerely convinced and that you were invited to give exactly that testimony, but I guess I wonder whether the testing that’s been done, how is it that you became convinced that it was sufficient?


DR. WILLIAMS:  I was involved in the discussions of how the data was generated, and I believe that when it was compared to historical levels of like chemicals within the L.A. Basin, that there were no significant swings in concentrations over the term of the study.


I’m glad we had the studies done.  I think that’s really important data to have.  I think it’s phenomenal that we got there.  I think it’s a good thing to do.  I’m not saying I’m against doing the measuring, but I think the measuring here in Beverly Hills is. . . . we’re, in a way, fortunate to be able to have that kind of thing done because it doesn’t get done at most schools in the country.  So, I think we’re really lucky.  I have a certain appreciation for the fact that we have that information.  I think we can test, again, until the cows come home, and we’re never going to have a hundred percent satisfaction.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, one of the things that we grapple with all the time on this committee, I think, is the difference between, gee, everybody runs the risk of getting cancer when they get up in the morning and various governmental entities that have a responsibility to protect certain populations within their control and whether or not there is a measurement about risk that is essentially greater than we would expect to find on any other school property or that is simply above an acceptable level.  We struggle with this all the time.  I mean, you read today about perchlorate, setting standards for that, et cetera.  So, I look forward to further scientific testimony.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


We have been joined by Assemblymember Koretz, who also represents the district, and he’ll have an opportunity to either ask a question or make an opening remark, but Senator Escutia wanted to ask this witness a question.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Just a follow-up question, Dr. Williams; a follow-up question to what Senator Kuehl asked you with regard to your involvement, and these are your words, that you were involved in discussions regarding how the data was generated.  Can you give me a little bit more detail as to what was the extent of your involvement?  Was it your involvement as a parent?


DR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So, you received no compensation for . . .


DR. WILLIAMS:  No.  No.  I received no compensation from anybody related to this.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  And again, your expertise is in. . . . you’re a Ph.D. and that’s a Ph.D. in pharmacology.


DR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right, thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Along that line, you are a headhunter for corporate executives in the scientific community?


DR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, do you place executives in Dow Chemical,       Venoco . . .


DR. WILLIAMS:  Dow Chemical, Exxon Oil, Pfizer, all the major firms, and a lot in drug safety and environmental safety.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I appreciate your coming.  I am absolutely committed to an objective hearing, and that’s why you were invited to provide testimony.  Ms. Kleinman is not a party to any lawsuit.  Clearly, your perspective is different, and that’s why we invite that.  We try to be respectful to witnesses and to colleagues, so I appreciate that you feel passionately about this issue, but I think it’s important to point out that you indeed have a professional, not legal conflict of interest, but a perspective that comes from your relationship with corporate chemical companies and oil companies, and I think that’s important to put on the record.  So, I appreciate that.


DR. WILLIAMS:  Fair enough.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We have Assemblymember Koretz, who represents the district, and then we’ll allow Senator Aanestad to weigh in, but I think we should extend the courtesy to the Assembly member that represents your community.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER PAUL KORETZ:  Thank you, and I appreciate the opportunity to be here.  


I’m mostly here to listen.  Whichever side is right, I think there’s a concern.  Obviously, if we are allowing health problems for the students in Beverly Hills, that’s obviously the greatest concern.  If it turns out that this is not impacting health in any way, then I’m concerned because we’ve created a lot of concern in the community, and parents that are not technically knowledgeable that hear that their kids may contract cancer or other forms of that, I would think would be terrified whether or not it’s actually the case.  So, I’m hoping we can study this well enough to get to the bottom of it and feel with some certainty that we know whether these oil wells are causing harm or not.  If they are causing harm, we obviously need to take action as immediately and strongly as possible.  And if they’re not, I think we need to be sure that the community is aware of that and we don’t cause unnecessary fears among the student and parent population.  


I know it’s believable just on its face.  I’m someone who’s been jogging on that track and have many friends that have gone to Beverly Hills High.  You can smell that oil well every time you pass it on the track.  That’s been the case as long as I can remember.  So, intuitively, you would believe there is some harm just because it hits you in the face, but in reality, that may not be true.  So, I think we need to take a good objective look at this, and that’s why I’m here.


And I will apologize also for the fact that I’m not going to be able to stay very long.  This wasn’t scheduled in such a way that I could be here for the whole hearing, but I’m here to listen.  My staff will stay longer, and I’ll continue to work with everybody on this issue.  So, thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now you guys know how I feel when I’m in Sacramento and I’ve got to be in committee hearings and my constituents are beating down the door.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER KORETZ:  Exactly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for being here.  I’m glad we can have you for a bit.


Senator Aanestad.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  Dr. Williams, you heard Mrs. Kleinman’s testimony.


DR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  She said that she did not believe there was any risk to her child, that there was no cancer-causing thing, but that she needed reassurance from the agencies, or whoever is in charge; that there should be more of a relationship between the parents and the district such that there’s enough reporting and enough testing to go on to reassure.  


I assume you love your child just as much, and your child is still in that school, so you don’t have as much concern about the risk as maybe we’re led to believe by the media and by the lawsuit.  But what is your feeling about the district and the city’s ability or their current practice in alerting the parents and reassuring the parents that, indeed, this is a safe condition?


DR. WILLIAMS:  Well, I guess fundamentally I don’t have a lot of confidence; that that’s not where I seek my reassurances in general is from bureaucracies.  And I think Jody put it really well about trying to sort all of this out through any number of agencies and perspectives.  At the end of the day I think everybody is doing pretty much the best they can given the resources we have and the constraints that we’re all under, which is sort of how I just get to the gestalt:  Look, we’ve done a lot of testing.  Is it perfect?  No.  Will it ever be perfect?  No.  Do I understand it?  Yes.  If I’ve done 90 percent of the testing or 80 percent of the testing, what’s the likelihood that if I do 20 percent better that I’m going to learn a lot more?  You know, it’s a statistical issue now, which is what risk assessment is, and so, I think what I was trying to put together here was sort of a gestalt of my thinking about the different ways, the different perspectives, that have come to bear on this issue.  The fact that we do have hard data, it’s better than having no data.  And having that data provides significant confidence to me as a rather informed person that, hey, we’re probably pretty good here.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  One more question?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Certainly.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  Have you had access to plaintiffs’ data?


DR. WILLIAMS:  Only what I’ve seen on the news and what were discussed in the meetings with the board.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  Let me ask you a final question.


One of the things that is sort of an anomaly in environmental law for this area is that if, as AQMD in fact did—as they have done—is to levy a civil fine and penalty for a number of things—the violations for equipment being installed that was not covered by the facility’s existing permits, the equipment was not in good operating condition, and also a violation for venting of natural gas—as a result of these inspection violations, Venoco shut down the facility for about six months and some penalties were assessed.  Elsewhere in environmental law, if the actions amount to or meet the criminal standard, criminal prosecution is available.  But this is the only area of the law in which that is not available.  


Assuming that the facts were clearly demonstrated that there were significant violations in excess of benzene or a number of the other things that are alleged, but not through the days that were tested through AQMD, assuming that that is, in fact, the case and these civil penalties were assessed, do you think it’s appropriate that the law bars criminal prosecution?


DR. WILLIAMS:  I don’t know.  I’m not a lawyer.  I think it’s important to be prudent about minimizing emissions.  Again, we don’t know what we don’t know.  We’re only testing what we have the capability to test, and we don’t know at the end of the day all of the biological interactions of those that are going to occur.  But I don’t have any opinion on the law.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  Well, thank you for your time.  I appreciate this.


Our next speaker is Ms. Erin Brockovich, and she’s being joined by Mr. Matt Hagemann.  Let me ask Ms. Brockovich to join us and come forward.  I believe we’ve given you your time limits, and we’ll go ahead and start the clock.  I believe there’s a presentation by Mr. Hagemann, who is the consultant on the Soil/Water/Air Protection Enterprise on behalf of Masry & Vititoe, which is going to be through PowerPoint.  


Ms. Brockovich, if you want to begin your testimony, because I understand you’re opening?  Is that correct?  Do we need the PowerPoint to assist you?  Okay.


MS. ERIN BROCKOVICH:  Good morning.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good morning.


MS. BROCKOVICH:  Thank you to all the senators, their committees, and everyone here for the opportunity to discuss these important issues:  Beverly Hills High School, state regulatory agency procedures in identifying and addressing toxins in our public schools, and a peculiar Health and Safety Code:  42400.7.


I would like to share some facts.  It was brought to our attention that there may be a potential problem in Beverly Hills, specifically at the high school; that alumni were coming down with cancer.


I did some quick research on the Internet and found an article on the oil at Beverly Hills High School.  I was surprised to learn that the facility at the high school was producing 740 barrels of crude and processing over 300,000 cubic feet of natural gas per day.  I had no idea that there was this type of production facility on a school campus.


I did some further research, asked some questions, and was mailed a 2001 EPA newsletter that stated the following:  “The oil industry has developed creative facades to mask its oil operations amid the glamour of Beverly Hills.  For example, the Venoco Oil Company has built a 16-story tower on the Beverly Hills High School campus, painted in a floral design to hide a well.  The so-called Tower of Hope rises above the school and has 14 operational well heads, and no one even knows it’s there.”  I was unaware of this, and it is actually 18 operational well heads that exist there today.  To me, this was hiding more than just a well.


I became curious and I did a Freedom of Information request to all state agencies.  Shortly thereafter we started to receive documents that indicated there might be a problem at the school.  One document in particular that disturbed me was a 1984 environmental checklist form that was completed by the oil company and requested by the lead agency overseeing the operation—the city of Beverly Hills.  The city had an environmental review board who asked the following questions:

1. Will the proposed oil platform result in substantial air emissions or deterioration of the ambient air?  Their response was “maybe.”

2. Does the proposed involve a risk of an explosion or the release of a hazardous substance?  Their response was “maybe.”

3. Will the proposed result in the creation of any health hazard or exposure of people to potential health hazards?  Their response was “maybe.”


There was a 1978 Environmental Impact Report that was done.  It addressed noise problems and aesthetics; not the environment or any possible health effects.  The facility hadn’t even yet been built.  They did mention the air but stated that no air monitoring could be done since emissions would be dispersed within a few thousand feet.  We know in this report that there will be emissions, and I’m assuming that they saw the school sitting there and that children would be within and underneath those few thousand feet, but no one’s going to bother to monitor the air.  This EIR appears to be defective.


Something else that was troublesome were numerous documents in city records showing that the city of Beverly Hills and the unified school district would earn a 5 percent overriding royalty from this operation and could potentially earn $50 million combined.  The city, who is the lead agency of this operation, and the school district in charge of these children is earning money from an oil production facility that sits right on top, not adjacent to, a school that they know might explode, that might deteriorate the air, and might harm people.  You can call me jaded.  I think this is a serious conflict.


No one here is saying that the city and the school district are not entitled to earn money, but to do so from an operation that is dangerous to children and look the other way is wrong.  


What is surprising is that since the facility’s inception, no state agency has done testing or monitoring of the air or the soil or done a survey of students or faculty to see if there are any health concerns.  Yet, in 1984, many citizens filed complaints with the city and even went to a hearing in front of the city environmental review board stating that they had serious concerns that this place was dangerous and might explode.  These citizens claim that the California Environmental Quality Act had been violated, and they wanted the operation shut down.  These concerns went unheard.  From 1984 until we came along in 2003, it appears no one did or said anything about this situation.


In January of 2003, Columbia Analytical—a state-certified lab—confirmed benzene and N-hexane in the ambient air at the high school taken from tests done by Masry & Vititoe.  At this point, CBS News aired a story discussing the potential problems and the risk at the school.  


On February 6th, the South Coast Air Quality Management District sent inspectors to the site and, to their surprise, found that Venoco was venting natural gas into the air and that children were playing within 100 feet of this stack.  On the night of February 6th, the AQMD did testing and confirmed that formation gas was being vented into the air and found benzene at the well vent at 4.5 ppm and found N-hexane at 12 ppm.  These are the same compounds we found.


Masry & Vititoe’s air test results are legally defendable, and they are accurate.  The reason we found it in the air is because it came by surprise.  Venoco was operating its usual way—unattended—and thought no one was watching.  They were now caught, and every time Venoco or AQMD did tests, they made sure that prior to that, all leaks were fixed and sealed and then took their air test.  


On February 7th, AQMD inspectors sent a memo to the executive director, noting that the inspector’s greatest concern was the children and that any parent should be concerned about their child in this type of environment.


On February 11th, the AQMD assures us all is well; yet, on that very night, inspectors found significant levels of fugitive emissions coming from the facility and wrote an email to the executive officer stating that they were concerned for the inspectors’ safety due to a potential explosion factor.


In another email to the executive officer, the field inspector states:  “I cannot stress enough that this is becoming an immediate health and safety issue; not because of chronic effects but due to the possibility of an explosion.”  He goes on to note that the electrical system is suspect and that there is no vapor recovery to speak of.  “High levels of methane gas are emanating from this operation, and they have a faulty electrical system.”  The inspector, in all of his experience, is convinced that each hatch is leaking in excess of 100,000 ppm of volatile compounds.


On February 28th, the AQMD once again found several major leaks at this facility in excess of 50,000 ppm.  On March 1st, the AQMD once again found major leaks at this facility in excess of 50,000 ppm.  On April 6th, April 8th, April 10th, and April 19th, the AQMD cited Venoco for failure to once again comply with permit conditions and noted again that they had an explosive condition, just as they did on February 11th.  There were serious leaking emissions from the operation, and the clarifier pit had extremely high levels of benzene and toluene that were volatilizing into the atmosphere.  The benzene readings were 480,000 parts per billion and the toluene readings were 1,200,000 parts per billion.


Shortly hereafter, the AQMD confirms through their own data that this nonpermitted amine unit, even though Venoco had applied for it four years earlier, did in fact have a toxic cancer risk of 31 in a million.


The Los Angeles District Attorney’s Office investigated the violations of April and were unable to proceed into any criminal actions due to an unusual Health and Safety Code:  42400.7.  The code section basically says, if you pay a civil penalty, you can avoid prosecution.  I believe that the district attorney’s office is here today to discuss this code section and how it prohibits them from doing their job.


Recently, the city and the school district hired a consultant—Camp   Dresser & McKee—to do some testing.  They found methane gas on the school campus at 227,000 ppm.  This is well above explosive limits.  I’m curious why the Department of Toxic Substances Control has the authority and discretion to deed-restrict land for future school use that has methane gas in excess of 50,000 ppm, yet they have no authority over an existing school that is clearly in danger. 


This isn’t about whether we found benzene in the air on a given day and the AQMD didn’t.  This is about a situation at a public school that has an oil and gas operation on its campus and is dangerous to the children.  The AQMD has confirmed that there is a toxic cancer risk at this school.  AQMD Rules 1401 and 1402 state that if you exceed a toxic cancer risk of 10 and/or 25 in a million, they must give public notice.  The AQMD has confirmed that this facility is leaking fugitive emissions at an alarming rate into the air.  AQMD has confirmed high levels of benzene and toluene in the open pits that are volatilizing into the air.


There was no permit to vent natural gas at this facility but they did.  There was no permit to operate the amine unit at this facility but they were.  I’m wondering how long this has been going on.  I’m wondering if it would be continuing had we not come along.  I’m curious, where are and who are our state agencies that are supposed to be overseeing this facility and these children?  


I don’t believe that this is a safe operation to have on a campus at Beverly Hills High School or anywhere else in the State of California.  I find it ironic that when I pump gas there is a notice that the emissions from the pump could be dangerous to my health, but we’re not going to worry about the emissions at the school.  We as a state monitor the nutrition of our children, yet we’re not going to monitor the air that they breathe at Beverly Hills High.  


As a parent, I would be outraged.  As a citizen, I am incensed to find out that for decades children have been in danger and no precautions have been taken.  This simply can’t go on.  The AQMD has known for one year now that there is a toxic cancer risk at this school.  I hope we’re not going to wait another year.  Intervention needs to happen.  It is all of our duties to protect the health and welfare of the students at Beverly Hills High and in the State of California.


We request and hope that you will consider the following:

1. Revisiting, rewriting, or rescinding Health and Safety Code Section 42400.7.  I believe that health and safety codes need to protect the public.

2. Due to a serious conflict of interest, we ask that the city of Beverly Hills voluntarily remove themselves as lead agency and allow the Department of Toxic Substances Control to oversee the school and do a thorough risk assessment.  If a voluntary action does not occur, we request that the state direct it to do so.

3. DTSC needs to have authority over all schools, existing as well as future.  Venoco has been allowed way too long to self-monitor.  We need the appropriate state agency to oversee any industry on or adjacent to a public school.

4. We are very concerned that agencies have not been forthcoming with information.  Public records are being denied and withheld.  Information is being redacted.  If necessary, we ask that a state legislative subpoena be sent to the city, the school district, and AQMD so that all records and information can be provided to the public.


And last, we absolutely believe that Venoco has no business operating this type of facility on a school campus or, frankly, anywhere else in the State of California.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ms. Brockovich.


MS. BROCKOVICH:  And Matt has a presentation, if you want him to proceed.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I get a sense of how long your presentation is, Matt?  


MR. MATT HAGEMANN:  Mine’s a half-hour.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to ask you to try to move through it very quickly and make it twenty minutes because we went over a bit on presentation.  But I know you’re going to be good about trying to move through it.


Thank you.


MR. HAGEMANN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Thank you, members of the committee, and thank you, Ms. Brockovich.


My name is Matt Hagemann, and I’m joined today by my colleague, Dr. James Clark, who’s a toxicologist with our firm, Soil/Water/Air Protection Enterprise.  What I’m here today is to present what I have entitled, “The Failure of Regulatory Agencies to Assess and Protect Beverly Hills High School and Other Urban School Sites From Toxics.”  


My qualifications are that I was a former senior science policy advisor with USEPA Region IX.  In that role, I assisted senior managers in ensuring the protection of public health related to contaminants in the Southwest and across the U.S.  I was also responsible, personally responsible, for the assessment and the cleanup of hazardous waste sites to protect public health.  I developed the technical basis for major enforcement cases, including a settlement for a refinery in Hawaii that involved significant fines.  Recently, I co-authored a report along with Dr. Clark, my colleague, for approval by the Department of Toxics that included a rigorous risk assessment to their specifications.  


My colleague’s qualifications are as follows.  Most significantly, he has conducted a number of risk assessments at schools for DTSC approval, including schools with oil and gas wells.


As requested, I’m here today to provide a perspective to the committee on the roles of regulatory agencies responsible for the protection of public health in the vicinity of Beverly Hills High School and other schools.  And, as requested, I’d like to identify opportunities for the committee to consider to improve agency oversight at existing schools to better ensure student safety throughout the state.  I’ve made these conclusions about what I see are major cracks in the regulatory framework at Beverly Hills High School.  


The Air Quality Management District has known for nearly a year that Venoco was a high-risk facility by their own definition, yet did not notify the public, as is required under their own rules.  AQMD has not required an Environmental Impact Report under CEQA, despite a very well-known public controversy and the significant risk that they, themselves, identified.


The Air Quality Management District has not assessed the combined risk from the Venoco facility with the Sempra power plant, which is the power plant for Century City.  And the limited amount of AQMD oversight that they have provided has shown Venoco to have vented natural gas on numerous occasions, high levels of volatile organic compounds, including benzene and hexane, toluene and others.


Also, I have seen some cracks in the framework with regard to the Department of Toxics.  They identified hazardous waste at the school site, at the Venoco facility, in 2002, yet has not, apparently, followed up on that.  Beverly Hills Unified School District, through their consultant, identified methane in soil well above the DTSC screening level; yet, DTSC has not taken action on those findings.


So, I have concluded that the only way to ensure student safety is to conduct a rigorous investigation for contaminants in soil, soil gas, and air to answer the question:  Is the school safe?  Other schools in the State of California face potential risk from oil fields and toxic sites, and I will show some slides of an initial analysis.


To set the stage, the Beverly Hills High School is located in the shadow of the Venoco oil derrick that stands 170 feet tall.  Also significant is the hospital across the alleyway from the facility and the location of the power plant for Century City.


First I’ll turn my attention to AQMD and a permit process for what they call the “amine unit.”  This is a unit which treats gas prior to sale to the Southern California Gas Company to meet their specifications.  The permit application, as Ms. Brockovich alluded to, was submitted in the year 2000.  AQMD took no action on that application until April 30th of 2003, when they denied the permit on the basis of risk that they calculated to be 32 to 82 in a million.  AQMD made this finding after testing the emissions at the facility—the amine unit in specific—for the first time in April of 2003.  This unit was moved onto the site in 2000.  It was used, and the emissions were never tested until April of 2003.  


AQMD rules require, under these permit procedures, that the public be notified when risk exceeds 10 in a million; however, the public still has not been notified of this risk.  And for comparison, the Department of Toxics has a guideline that specifies risk at school campuses be less than one in a million.  And let me tell you that I believe this risk assessment is just the tip of the iceberg, in that it only considered one source—the amine unit.  We know there are at least three other sources of air toxins at the Venoco facility that are permitted and many other fugitive emissions, and it only considered one compound:  benzene.  We know also that there’s toluene and hexane and perhaps over a hundred other chemicals.


So, having been denied their permit, they reapplied—Venoco did—on May 14th of 2003.  They proposed improving their gas treatment with two carbon canisters instead of one and venting the emissions at 170 feet.  Public notice was given by AQMD on August 8, 2003, when they stated that the risk was less than the significance threshold of 10 in a million in AQMD rules.  Let me state that this was based on the understanding that Venoco would self-monitor and that they would be able to meet an emission standard of 4 parts per million.


AQMD acted in issuing a Permit to Construct in October of last year.  However, the Permit to Operate has not been issued.  


Please keep in mind this date of August 8, 2003—when they stated risk was less than the significance threshold of 10 in a million—as I flip to the next slide.  The next slide shows that AQMD, itself, requested of Venoco on August 5th a risk assessment for facilitywide risks, stating that Venoco’s benzene emissions could potentially exceed the action risk level of 25 in a million.  This was based upon an AQMD risk assessment that they, themselves, conducted on July 10, 2003, where they found the risks from the facility, even with the amine unit improvements, would constitute a risk of 31 in a million.  Again, this is not an overly protective risk assessment.  It’s the tip of the iceberg in that it only considered benzene emissions.


So, even with the proposed amine unit improvements, Venoco remains a high-risk facility, and, to date, the public has not been notified, and risk reduction has not been implemented.


Under CEQA, the Air Quality Management District has established under their own guidelines a cancer risk significance threshold of 10 in a million when improving permits for new or modified sources.  AQMD issued a Notice of Exemption from CEQA for Venoco in October of 2003, when they cited, again, the cancer risk is less than one in a million.


I’ll just note again that this considered only the amine unit, not a facilitywide benzene risk which they, themselves, calculated to be 31 in a million in July of 2003.  It’s my interpretation that as lead agency, AQMD has a responsibility to require an Environmental Impact Report which would fully disclose environmental conditions and potential health risks on the basis of the fact that there was significant risk and also on the basis that there was public controversy.


In answer to a checklist question, Venoco responded “no” when posed with this question:  Has this project generated any known public controversy regarding potential adverse impacts that may be generated by the project?  AQMD accepted this analysis by Venoco, stating, “This facility has generated public controversy recently, although the applicant indicated there was no controversy for the unit at hand—the amine unit.”  


It’s unacceptable to me, as a former regulator, to split risk like this.  When you look at risk from a facility, you could infinitely split it and say it’s smaller than a significance threshold.  But the facilitywide risk was known by AQMD at the time of the CEQA exemption to be above their significance threshold.


Recent activities which Ms. Brockovich referred—and I will have to march through these quickly.  Let me note that prior to 2003, the facility was not inspected before 1996.  And when it was inspected, the inspectors went armed with this rule citation which said that emissions would not be greater than 500 parts per million, and Notices of Violation could be issued for that.  Well, if you read through this list, you’ll see that there were a number of leaks in excess of 100,000 parts per million; that inspectors actually were able to see gas bubbling; and that their instruments flamed out—that is, that the concentrations of the gases were so high they could not be read by their instruments.  And because of that, they became concerned about their safety because they thought the facility might explode and raised those concerns to AQMD management.  There is one leak on there that is as high as 500,000 parts per million.  Please note that’s 1,000 times higher than the allowable level under this rule.


Also, recently AQMD reviewed a report by Venoco which documented venting of natural gas to the atmosphere.  Venoco reported that they did that with AQMD concurrence for nearly a week in August of 2002.  Then, they reported venting natural gas on a number of occasions in 2002 and in early 2003, including a one-week period in late January and early February.  The total gas vented to the atmosphere I have calculated to be equivalent to 11 days of full production capacity.  So, that obviously hurt because that’s a significant percentage of their production over that period of time that I have specified.


As a result, AQMD did issue Notices of Violation for constructing the unit without a permit, for venting natural gas on several days, for modifying the unit without a permit, and for failure to operate the waste water separator in good condition.  Venoco paid $10,000 in cash as a response to this Notice of Violation.  I’d like to note that the rules that govern AQMD’s enforcement allow it to collect up to $10,000 per day for each violation.


AQMD also has authority under the Clean Air Act for Title V—a program for major sources of air contaminants.  The Sempra facility is in the queue for a permit.  It has not gotten its permit, to date, despite the fact that in 1997 it was one of the top emitters of nitrous oxide in the South Coast Air Basin.  Venoco, itself, has been considered for Title V, but further consideration is apparently not at hand.


The Air Quality Management District also has authority for what is known as AB 2588, the Toxic Hot Spots Act.  This requires facilities to report their air toxins and to ascertain the health risks from those air toxins.  To date, AQMD has not required this type of risk assessment for Venoco or Sempra, and they have, actually, the discretion to require this sort of assessment for facilities combined when they are in close proximity.  I believe that that should be considered.  Venoco alone exceeds the AQMD priority threshold of 10 in a million risk under this rule.


Let me show you how AQMD has been used successfully by the Santa Barbara County Air Pollution Control District.  This is a photograph of a resort area in the Goleta coast of Santa Barbara County.  You turn off Highway 1 and you immediately see the sign before driving past a golf course and before you reach a resort.  It says, “Warning.  If you hear a siren, stop.  This is an emergency.  Do not enter area.”  And then, if you travel further down that road, you will see this light which would flash in the event of an emergency, and it also has a map for an evacuation.  It’s a facility that’s similar to the Beverly Hills High School facility in that it processes offshore oil and gas.


Turning my attention now to Department of Toxics, the school program, as has been stated previously, was created in 2000 in the wake of lessons learned from Belmont High School.  They do have statutory authority for expanding and brand new school property sites.  I’ll just throw out here something that I think most people know is a major loophole, and that is that existing schools are excluded from this statutory authority.  DTSC cannot, also, because of another loophole, consider offsite sources of contaminants.  And this is from the website where it says they can’t consider nearby airports, landfills, refineries, pipelines,   et cetera.  And it was my experience in assisting Dr. Clark in preparing the report and then his risk assessment at the school in Los Angeles that we could only look at the risk at the school from sidewalk to sidewalk, under the footprint of the school itself.


DTSC does have a very comprehensive risk assessment process.  It requires an evaluation of risk on how people are exposed to chemicals, whether they breathe them in, whether they eat them, whether they absorb them on their skin, and whether those chemicals come from air, soil, or water.  Also, DTSC uses a conservative scenario; that is, a protective scenario for schools that envisions people living there 24/7 for a number of years.


This is the success story that I’ve referred to, recently touted on DTSC’s website.  This is stating that the investigation that Dr. Clark and I conducted and authored had been completed; that the Los Angeles Academy—a 3,000-seat school in Los Angeles—was confirmed to be safe for children to attend.  And I point this out, really, for this feature in this photograph, and that is, this is the parking lot of the administration building at this school.  So, we are on school property.  Here are three, very large carbon canisters.  The gas is pumped from out of the ground through these canisters and treated and then exhausted from this pipe.  And I can tell you that to get the permit, our company had to adhere to extremely rigorous guidelines from AQMD, and the risk from the emissions from this pipe are well less than one in a million.


Turning attention now to the CDM report—it’s been referred to already—these are the conclusions:  Soil and soil gas pose no unusual risk to students or staff.  No basis exists for believing that students or staff would show adverse health effects from exposure, noting that methane was found.  However, it states that it was not detected near any buildings and does not pose a hazard in its present location.


It’s my conclusion that this report has no agency standing.  DTSC was not involved in the planning or the oversight of this report.  It did not approve the findings of this report.  In fact, before the report process commenced, DTSC stated to Beverly Hills Unified that since DTSC has not been involved in the review and approval of any sampling activities, we cannot determine if the data that are being gathered will address the necessary issues or be sufficient for determination concerning the welfare of the students and staff at the high school.


What the Beverly Hills Unified consultant did find is methane as high as 227,000 parts per million beneath the school using field instruments and 100,000 parts per million using a laboratory analysis.  For comparison, methane is explosive at 53,000 parts per million. DTSC’s own guidance states that when methane is found at 1,000 parts per million or greater, that further sampling and analysis needs to be conducted.  To note that at Belmont, only 17 of 56 probes were sampled for methane at 5,000 parts per million or greater.


And then, finally, DTSC has prohibited school construction at a site in Century City at a piece of residential property where methane was found at 122,000 parts per million and has required methane abatement in the buildings that would be constructed there.


To date, no DTSC lead sampling has been conducted at Beverly Hills High School and no abatement of contaminants has been required.  DTSC in 2002 prepared this report, and it found a confidential facility, which I have confirmed to be Venoco, in Beverly Hills within a quarter of a mile of a school to have exceeded regulatory thresholds for lead.  That means it’s hazardous waste.  


Beverly Hills was selected due to concerns regarding potential impacts of oil exploration and production waste on children’s health, and the report author concluded that the oily sludge in the pump cellar at Venoco should be managed as hazardous waste and that it displayed hazardous waste characteristics.  School property, therefore, includes a hazardous waste facility.  However, there has been no follow-up by DTSC on this finding.


So, I’d like to summarize this part of my presentation with these recommendations for the committee to consider.


The Air Quality Management District has known of the significant risk for nearly a year at the high school and should now notify the public and reduce the risk using best technology.  


The Air Quality Management District should reevaluate the need for an Environmental Impact Report which would fully disclose environmental conditions under the ongoing amine unit permit process.  The Permit to Operate has not yet been issued.


AQMD should consider requiring a combined and thorough risk assessment for the air toxins from the Venoco and the Sempra power plant, and the Air Quality Management District should move along in the queue the Title V permit for Sempra and reevaluate the applicability to Venoco.


DTSC—the presence of hazardous waste on school property triggers their involvement, and the presence of methane above their guidance would also trigger their involvement despite loopholes.  I would suggest that DTSC enter into an agreement with Beverly Hills Unified.  This is the way they operate.  When they find toxins on a school site, they require an agreement with the school district—either it’s on consent or it’s unilateral—to conduct an investigation and a cumulative risk assessment for contaminants in soil and soil vapor, which would include the area beneath the school and the area beneath Venoco, and then, also include the risk from the air toxins.  When you combine what comes out of the soil with what’s in the air, then we will know the true risk that students face.  Under the information they’re able to obtain and upon their involvement they find that it’s warranted, they should take response actions now.  Get in there, get rid of what is a hazard, and mitigate it if necessary.


And let me state that it’s my opinion that the findings of the Beverly Hills Unified School District has no agency standing.


So, to summarize again this portion of my presentation, that given there’s an explosion potential at the oil production facility itself, that there’s significant risk by AQMD’s own definition, that there’s methane in soil beneath the school and hazardous waste on school property, the state should strongly consider their authority using the eminent and substantial endangerment process for Venoco unless the agencies can answer “yes” to this question:  Is Beverly Hills High safe for students and staff?  


As a person who’s been involved in protecting public health with regulatory agencies for ten years and then also involved in the field for an additional ten years, it’s my opinion that this school is not safe for students and staff and that the risk we know about is just the tip of the iceberg.  Upon further investigation, we will find out that that risk is even greater.


Is Beverly Hills High an isolated incident?  We mapped some other facilities throughout the South Coast Air Basin with the objective of trying to determine if these sources of air toxins were in close proximity to schools, and I’ll flip through a few slides quickly here.  The first one comes from Long Beach where you see a facility entitled LUBCO[?].  Its risk is 70 in a million by AQMD’s own website.  It’s within a quarter mile radius—this defines a quarter mile—of the Mokler Elementary School.  Again, this is just an initial analysis.  It’s not comprehensive, but we think it gives an idea of other at-risk schools, or potentially at-risk schools.


In Long Beach, also, we found two elementary schools that are nearly surrounded by oil and gas wells, and this is a quarter-mile radius again.  In Los Angeles, a school site that has had some recent public attention because of actions by a city councilwoman and the L.A. City District Attorney, the 28th Street Elementary School is within a quarter-mile of a facility which poses a risk of 39 in a million, according to AQMD’s website.


And then, finally, in La Puente, Santana High School is within feet of a facility which is stated to pose a risk of 79 in a million on the AQMD website.


So, it’s my interpretation that policy measures are needed to ensure the safety of other schools; that a statewide analysis of risk from sources of nearby air toxins be conducted and then combined with the risk that the children face from toxins under the footprint of the school so that we can understand the cumulative risk they face, and in knowing this, target permitting, enforcement, and cleanup in areas of highest risk and require agency coordination in assessing this cumulative risk.  


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You managed to do that within time, Mr. Hagemann.  Thank you so much.


I know that there are probably questions of you, and I will allow my colleagues, as usual, to weigh in first.


Senator Escutia.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Mr. Hagemann, you mentioned about the violation, one being that Venoco was only assessed a violation of $10,000, but you indicated that the violation could have been $10,000 for every day that they were in violation of these statutes?


MR. HAGEMANN:  Yes, that’s my interpretation of AQMD’s enforcement authority.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  Now, how many days?  If they would have used that standard, how many days could they have found them in violation?


MR. HAGEMANN:  Well, you can only enforce using data that are at hand.  We know the unit was moved onto the facility in 2000.  How many days it operated out of compliance we don’t know because we don’t have data, and I haven’t gone through the exercise of adding up the amount of dates or the number of days that one unit exceeded its emissions.  I can’t answer that without really sort of stepping through it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You can certainly ask AQMD when they come forward later.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Yes, we’ll ask that question of AQMD.


You also indicated in one of your comments there in the slides that DTSC does its analysis in terms of exposure and absorption rates.  The question that I have for you—and also, probably, for DTSC—does that analysis include exposure and absorption rates for children and teenagers?  The new environmental health data is indicating that perhaps there are changes there as to how they are exposed and absorb to these types of toxins.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’re going to have the other expert witness, if it’s appropriate, and they can maybe answer that.


MR. HAGEMANN:  Dr. Clark is a colleague of mine—a toxicologist—who has conducted the risk assessments himself, so I think he’d be the most appropriate to answer that question.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.


DR. JAMES CLARK:  The short answer, ma’am, is yes.  The DTSC has a new school screening policy which does take that into consideration.  Previous evaluations did take into account weighted averages of a particular area.  If you’re dealing with middle school children, you would take the average for the weights and inhalation rates.  Now we’re getting better at this and getting more specific information for each time period.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  And I know that in your last slide, Mr. Hagemann, you indicated that the state should get, I think, more involved in terms of identifying these risks for children and for teenagers, and I wanted to remind you that, indeed, California was the first state in the country to pass a Children’s Environmental Health Act.  It was signed into law in 1999 which, for the first time ever, ordered the ARB—the Air Resources Board—to start identifying which were the number one toxins of greatest impact to children and to teenagers.  The reason why I know this is because that was my bill.  But it’s very, very sad that it has taken us until the year 2000 to get to that point to identify the fact that children and teenagers do have different absorption rates and their bodies, perhaps, cannot process these chemicals as efficiently as adults.  But I think the state is getting there in terms of trying to identify which are the toxins that pose the greatest risk for children and teenagers.  


Obviously, I would have to apologize as the author of that bill that it took me four years to pass that bill as a result of three vetoes that I sustained, and I also would have to apologize to the State of California and its residents that it’s taken California this long to finally realize that children are exposed to these type of toxins at way different rates than adults.  But I do take very seriously your policy recommendations, and I will go back to see how we can fine-tune this by way of this statutory framework that we already have in place.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think Assemblymember Koretz and then Senator Aanestad.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER KORETZ:  I have a couple of questions.  One is, I know the city of Beverly Hills has done some testing as well, and although it may be argued whether or not they have legal standing, as far as I understand, their consultants are generally considered to be pretty sharp and objective.  My understanding is that their tests didn’t show anything that would be cause for concern.  


How different is that than your testing, and is it your interpretation of either of your testing that’s different, or is your testing very different than theirs in terms of results?


MR. HAGEMANN:  Well, first of all, the only test results I looked at have been generated by, in this case, AQMD through their inspections.  So, it’s AQMD data.  It’s from the agency.  And the consultant hired by Beverly Hills Unified School District.  Those are the only data we have to go on here.  I haven’t seen the city’s data, so I can’t respond to the comment that you’re making.  


I can say that data that are collected without agency oversight ultimately don’t necessarily conclude definitively whether there’s a risk or not.  It takes an agency that has authority to be able to make that determination; to sign off on the report.  I can tell you that in the case of the school that Dr. Clark and I assessed, that took many years.  We collected tens of thousands of samples at a cost of several million dollars for our client, and the report took over two years to complete.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER KORETZ:  Has anyone done any kind of a study of either Beverly Hills High School past students or neighbors of the facility to determine whether cancer rates have been higher in either the neighborhood or among the student populations?


MR. HAGEMANN:  That’s not an area that I’ve looked at.  I only look at toxins and how they may pose a risk under agency guidelines to the students at the school.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER KORETZ:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Aanestad?


SENATOR AANESTAD:  I have a number of questions.


Ms. Brockovich, on your recommendations that you would like to see this panel do, you made the statement that the agencies have not been forthcoming, and you would like to see this Legislature use subpoena power to get the data.


Let me just read you list of studies and reports that I read before coming down to this meeting:  California Department of Toxics; USC Cancer Registry; AQMD; Beverly Hills Fire Department; Camp Dresser & McKee report; California Department of Health Services; California Conservation Division of Oil, Gas & Geothermal Resources; South Coast Air Quality Management District; _________ Group Study; Los Angeles County Environmental.


I got those reports.  I read them.  What more reports are you talking about where people have not been forthcoming?  Because I don’t think there are any other reports.  The only report I couldn’t find was yours and what you based your lawsuit on.  In fact, I understand the city of Beverly Hills had to subpoena your firm to get those reports and that there weren’t, really, any.


So, what are we talking about subpoena power here?


MS. BROCKOVICH:  Okay.  Well, first of all, I’m not addressing any part of the litigation here today.  This is simply about public policy, and that’s why I’m here.  


What I’m concerned about—and I’m a big advocate for public records.  I have done a Public Records Act request, and I, too, have gotten as much information as you have.  But it becomes concerning to me when I look at specific data for how much benzene is coming out of the amine unit and AQMD has redacted one, two, or three specific data points that could be helpful.  It concerns me when I have parents—Jody Kleinman—and others who indicate that they have called AQMD, done a Public Records Act request, and they do not believe that they have gotten the appropriate information; and/or a reporter who gets information on public records and it’s a blank page or it’s stamped “redacted.”  So, that tends to make us uncomfortable, and we’re not confident that all the data is there.  So, I made that request.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  So, those parents, I would suggest they contact their senator’s office or my office.  I’m sure we can supply them with that information.  Maybe not to their satisfaction but certainly to mine.


Ms. Brockovich, you made statements in the press that I have seen that the cancer rate of Beverly Hills alumni is 20 to 30 times that of the national average.  Can you cite any epidemiological study or any credible scientific effort to support that kind of a claim?


MS. BROCKOVICH:  That claim was preliminary information that we had at a meeting; and again, that is something that goes to the litigation that I’m not the appropriate person to answer.  The attorneys are here, if they would like to speak on that behalf.


But no, I think an epidemiological study or any information that you’re willing to tell us is important, and our concern, again, is the fact that this is a facility that has existed since 1981; that hasn’t had the appropriate testing done, that has current information that it is dangerous, and we don’t think it has any business being on top of children.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  In response to my question, though, the epidemiological study, you say that there is one.  It’s just that you’re not qualified to talk about it because that’s part of the litigation effort?


MS. BROCKOVICH:  No.  I believe you’re referring to. . . . in the beginning of this, we were working with a toxicologist who had made some preliminary findings, and I made reference to those.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  We had two parents here both testifying, both with children in the school, who have not taken their kids out of the school district; who said that, yes, there may be a risk—they don’t know—but certainly, nothing is cause enough for a parent to take their children out of harm’s way.  Yet, you say that the Beverly Hills High School environment is dangerous to children.  And I’m assuming that’s because you think that there are health-related problems to the environment at that school.  Can you give us any scientific. . . . or any data that you might have?  Because I can tell you, these nine different agencies, ten different agencies that I wrote, all came up with a negative report.  A negative report.  So, there must be something that you have, either in your law firm or in your position, that says that, yes, there is a danger to these children—when all of these agencies and these two parents are saying, no, there isn’t.


MS. BROCKOVICH:  Well, that’s why I’m here.  I think you have a problem with an agency, sir.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  Ten of them.


MS. BROCKOVICH:  And I think it could be, potentially, AQMD.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  Two parents.  Maybe we have a problem with the legal system.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Again, let me just encourage that it’s appropriate to ask questions, and I think commentary is appropriate in closing, but I think the process needs to be fair when it’s respectful.  I think the question was asked and answered, asked and answered, asked and answered.


So, before I ask the questions, I will allow Senator Kuehl and Senator Alarcón, and I’ll hold off on my questions.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Mr. Hagemann, at the very end you talked about the existence of risk, and one of the things that sort of makes us crazy on the environmental protection committee or on this committee or other committees on which we serve and hear about threats to health is that there’s no such thing as zero risk; there’s only a measurable, acceptable risk.  And there’s a lot of argument about what acceptable health risks are in terms of these numbers that you’ve talked about:  how many people can have cancer out of a million people and it’s an acceptable risk under a health standard and therefore it’s okay?  Whereas, regular people wouldn’t feel that was okay either.



Your conclusion that there are risks at the site, are those based on measurable studies that have shown a risk above an acceptable risk set by an agency, federal or state?


MR. HAGEMANN:  Yes.  The AQMD risk assessment that they conducted showed risk, the facilitywide risk, to be 31 in a million.  That was even after the amine unit was improved.  That risk is in excess of public notification requirements which, by AQMD’s own rules, is triggered when risk exceeds 10 in a million, and then, risk reduction is required when risk exceeds 25 in a million.  So, by AQMD’s own thresholds, that risk is significant that they calculated.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MR. HAGEMANN:  Let me also compare that to DTSC’s guidelines because it is a little confusing.  DTSC has a guideline that says at schools, risks shall not exceed one in a million.  That’s the working guideline that Dr. Clark and I prepared our report for at Jefferson Middle School.  


So, I think it’s an interesting question to take a look at risk which is still in excess of AQMD’s guidelines because the facility which emits air toxins is actually on the school.  Therefore, DTSC’s guideline would kick in.  AQMD’s guideline was triggered and exceeded, and then, DTSC’s guideline, if they were involved, would be triggered and exceeded.  So, by both agencies’ guidelines, we have risk that is excessive.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I’m going to have questions for the agencies, of course, but also, I want to remind people that when Ms. Kleinman testified, she testified of her concern and wanted to have further information.  I would most respectfully suggest that the fact that parents do not take their children out of school when there’s not necessarily a great many options, when it’s incredibly disruptive, and when you haven’t had the study that can lead to the conclusion, you can have a fear and you can have a concern as a parent.  But I don’t like to see her testimony—I’ll use the word—mischaracterized.  I believe she was saying we have a right to know—we have a right to know—and then we can make an informed decision.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.


Senator Alarcón.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  You mentioned, Mr. Hagemann, that Venoco was fined $10,000 for a one-day event.


MR. HAGEMANN:  The total cash fine, as reported by AQMD in a press release, was $10,000.  I don’t know for what event that was assessed.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  And you mentioned that. . . . or there was an implication that there was other events that exceeded the acceptable limits that were probably not fined.  Do you have any evidence that that was the case?


MR. HAGEMANN:  Well, we have the inspectors’ reports which showed using field instruments that the levels of contaminants were in excess of 500 parts per million.  So, we have that evidence.  I was able to see some deliberation by AQMD about whether those measurements were taken consistent with what is required to take enforcement.  It’s my understanding, in looking at what AQMD did, is that they didn’t necessarily take proper samples that would have allowed them to form the basis for an enforcement action of those other days.  But their field instruments were showing them they had these violations.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  I guess my concern is whether or not the procedural mechanism in place at the Air Quality Management District allowed for a continuous investigation if there were ongoing violations.  Is there something that triggers additional investigations once somebody has a violation?  Do they come back in a month?  Do they come back in three months?  I notice that your recommendations were silent with regard to reinvestigating once a violation has occurred.


MR. HAGEMANN:  Yes.  When you note a violation, you go out, and you do verification at a future date to ensure that the violations were assessed.  AQMD did make return trips.  And many of the notations I had on AQMD inspections were on return trips when they found the same problems that they had noted in previous trips to still be present.  So, I think if you go through the record, you’ll see that AQMD noticed a pattern of finding these in violation when they visited the site at the same point, and then, they went back out and they were still in violation.  Literally, some of the measures that were being taken by the facility to comply were applying caulking to hatches, tightening down the hatches; taking very rudimentary steps to try to bring this facility which would appear to be chronically leaking into compliance.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Okay.  I would like to know what kinds of recommendations you might make relative to ensuring that the problem has been corrected but also with regard to how the citations are pursued.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, we’ll hear from DTSC and AQMD on that manner of assessing fines.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  But I want to know your recommendation.


MR. HAGEMANN:  The one point that Ms. Brockovich brought up is that self-monitoring not be allowed; that AQMD oversight be much more thorough at the facility to confirm that the facility is in compliance.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  We have gone over on time.  We do have the regulatory agencies that have a lot of information and, hopefully, responses to these.


I’m going to hold off on my question, but let me make a statement.  What I heard from your presentation was that even though there are significant readings in excess of what the standards are in law, because DTSC had no authority to either design the scope of the school district’s consultants’ environmental review nor did they have the ability to act on those findings—that’s good information, but it suggests that there was a risk there, and even their own data exceeds the standards were DTSC to have had authority on a new school construction or a significant modernization.


Is that an accurate characterization of the dilemma we have with DTSC’s ability to come in?


MR. HAGEMANN:  That’s one dilemma, and certainly, DTSC’s hands were tied statutorily.  However, as a person who’s spent a lot of time enforcing hazardous waste violations, when you do find something like the presence of hazardous waste at a facility, it opens the whole facility up to further investigation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And then we had a little bit of a discussion about the difference between risk management and risk assessment—the OEHHA versus other standards, like we have gone through with perchlorate.  Interesting day that we all get to see better standards far lower than we would have seen had we not had discussions on perchlorate in the State of California.  Opening up and inviting the public in and outlining often not quite so balanced scientific data and body of evidence gathering or witnesses or conflicts of interest result in a higher risk.  I happen to believe that as we struggle with the risk management and risk assessment models at a time the state doesn’t have a lot of money, yet we have a lot of schools that are in a similar situation because they preceded Senator Escutia’s legislation—like Beverly Hills High—we have a whole lot of work to do ahead of us.


But I do appreciate your presentation.  Do you want a brief closing comment?


MS. BROCKOVICH:  Yes.  I just wanted to, again, make a clarification here.  Everything that I discussed and Dr. Hagemann has shared is not our data.  It’s information taken from the AQMD, and I think that that’s very important.  A facility that’s a known toxic cancer risk of 31 in a million, in all of your research, if you did not see that, then we, in fact, do have a problem with information not getting out to the public.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll forward it to Senator Aanestad.  Maybe you can outline us those standards.  That may be helpful.


MS. BROCKOVICH:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And let me thank you.  We went over time, but I think it’s helpful.  This concludes the “Community Concerns About Beverly Hills High School” panel.  


I’ve got a number of members who are leaving soon who really want to hear from the regulatory agencies, so I’m going to alter the agenda a bit.  I’m going to ask the regulatory agency speakers—the fourth agenda item—to come forward.  Mr. Lowry, Mr. Wallerstein, Mr. Stan Williams—a deputy from the district attorney’s office—Jason Marshall, and Richard Baker, if you would all come forward and begin.  And we will return to Mr. Larry Weiner, the city attorney for the city of Beverly Hills, at the end of this, but there are members here who want to hear from the regulatory agencies.


Mr. Lowry, you may begin as quickly as possible.


Senator Escutia, I’m going to ask you to chair for a moment.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  Our first witness is Mr. Ed Lowry, director of the Department of Toxic Substances Control.


Welcome, Ed.


MR. ED LOWRY:  Thank you very much.  Thank you for inviting me to be here today.  I will be as quick as I can in going through some of the questions which were posed.


The letter I received from the chair of the committee asked three questions, and they were slightly different from what was stated at the beginning which may have gone to others.  The first was:  What is your perspective on the roles of the various regulatory agencies that have been involved in this issue?


I have an outline which talks about other agencies as well, including the South Coast Air Quality Management District and Division of Oil, Gas & Geothermal Resources (who have had roles here), and I was going to summarize their statutory authority and then yield to them in terms of what their perspective is in terms of how they have done.  I think we’ve already heard the statutory authority, so I will basically eliminate that part of it except to say they also have roles, as we do.


What I’d like to do, then, is talk more about our role in this issue, and the question which was posed to me was:  DTSC has the statutory role to ensure that new school sites are free from toxic contamination but not over existing schools, such as Beverly Hills High School.  Is this appropriate?


Let me say by way of introduction that the administration does not have a position as to whether there should be legislation to change our statutory role here.  But I still think it would be useful to talk about what our authority is and how we exercise it.  It might be helpful to the committee in that context.


As Senator Escutia knows and the other senators as well, new laws were enacted in January of 2000 changing the Education Code which added various sections to that code requiring DTSC oversight of the environmental review process for proposed acquisition and/or construction at school properties—including expansions and additions—in order for schools to qualify for matching state bond funds.  So, if you wanted money to build a new addition or a new school, you needed to go through a process over which we had oversight.


Schools districts have an option of dropping projects—in effect, not purchasing properties—or remediating properties where environmental contamination is found.  There are statutes which prescribe the investigatory process to be followed by school districts for environmental assessment, investigation, and cleanup of newer, expanding school properties.


Briefly, what we do is we oversee Phase I environmental site assessments which primarily are record searches.  We have 30 days to identify and recognize environmental conditions or to review the assessment which identifies that, which would include the presence or threat of hazardous materials or release of hazardous substances.  If the Phase I environmental assessment shows there are potential hazardous materials to be found, we oversee the completion of what is known as a preliminary environmental assessment to conduct environmental testing and health risk assessment.  We review that report as well as that assessment.  We have 60 days to do that.  If hazardous materials are identified at a prospective school property through those two processes, we require cleanup under provisions of Chapter 6.8 of the Health and Safety Code.  


In order to meet this mandate, we created in the year 2000 a Schools Division under the leadership of Hamid Saebfar (who is also here today) to assist school districts in the assessment of these properties to see that they’re expeditiously investigated, evaluated, and, if necessary, remediated.  We have multidisciplinary project teams with scientific and engineering expertise.  We have a public participation staff to assist districts with community involvement, and we coordinate with other California Environmental Protection Agency departments, boards, and offices—those being the regional water quality control boards—the air resources agencies, and other state departments; in particular, Department of Health Services, Department of Education, and Department of General Services which has the Division of the State Architect and the Office of Public School Construction.


Since January of 2000, we have developed approximately 15 technical guidance documents to assist school districts in conducting these investigations and cleanups.  We’ve provided ten or more training workshops for districts and consultants.  We worked on about 1,330 projects in 380 school districts in 47 counties in the State of California.  All of those under the deadlines which I’ve talked about before. 


We have seen about 118 projects dropped by school districts due to contamination, and in the same time period, we have overseen approximately 70 cleanups where the contamination was such that we felt and the school district felt that it was appropriate to clean up the site and build a school or an addition there.


The question that I got in the letter from the chair asked about our role at existing schools as well.  There are a little over 9,000 existing public schools in California.  About 73 percent of California classrooms are over 25 years old; so built, clearly, before current environmental laws were in effect.  And as has been stated several times today, our oversight is not mandated for existing schools under the Education Code statutes.  Nevertheless, at the request of various school districts, we have entered into what we call “voluntary cleanup agreements” or other types of voluntary agreements to oversee environmental assessments and mitigation at—the document I have here says—62 existing schools.  About 30 percent of that 62 have required some mitigation, and I think you’ve seen a couple of slides already about that.  I’d like to talk about three or four of them very briefly.


Park Avenue Elementary School in Los Angeles was built over a landfill with petroleum-related waste and heavy metals.  About 96,000 cubic yards of contaminated soils were excavated and disposed of off site under our oversight.  


The Burbank Elementary School, not in Burbank but built in San Bernardino, was sited next door to a pesticide manufacturer.  We expedited that investigation and cleanup.  It took about eight weeks to do.  About 6,000 cubic yards of pesticide contaminated soil were removed and disposed of.


At the Jersey Avenue Elementary School in Montebello, also built over a petroleum disposal area, we oversaw the removal of 10,400 cubic yards of petroleum-impacted soils which were excavated and disposed of off site.  


Another school in Pittsburg, in Contra Costa County, we oversaw the excavation of 4,200 cubic yards of material containing dioxins and hexavalent chromium which were excavated and disposed of off site.


So, at those existing school sites, we got there because the school districts said, We may have a problem.  Why don’t you help us out?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Lowry, I know that you’ve got a lot of testimony, but I know Senator Kuehl has a question as well as Assemblymember Koretz.  Let me ask you a question.


Did you just say that some of these schools that preceded Senator Escutia’s new school and modernization review have asked DTSC to come in and inspect?


MR. LOWRY:  Those are the 62 schools which I referenced, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  So, 62 of the pre- school modernization . . . 


MR. LOWRY:  Pre- year 2000, right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And 73 percent of the schools in the State of California follow under that grandfathered or pre- . . .


MR. LOWRY:  More than that.  Seventy-three percent are over 25 years old.  So, I’d say a very low percentage of schools were built after the year 2000.  We’ve got a lot of schools, three-quarters of them, which are more than 25 years old in terms of classroom-by-classroom analysis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, probably, easily, 95 percent of the schools are under that grandfather clause provision.


MR. LOWRY:  I would not be surprised.  I don’t think we have more than 5 percent of schools built in the last four years.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  Maybe if you could summarize?


MR. LOWRY:  I’ve covered a whole lot of what I wanted to cover.  Our involvement at Beverly Hills High School, as you know, has been limited.  We had discussions with the school district and the city which ultimately led to the city and the school district—I think the city primarily—concluding that they wanted to do a private assessment, and they did not want to enter into an agreement with us, so we did not.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it didn’t fall within your review.  Did not fall within your ability to review their findings.


MR. LOWRY:  That’s correct, so we did not.


One other issue which I just want to clear up since it was mentioned:  hazardous waste discovered at the facility at Beverly Hills High School.  We did a review of petroleum wastes.  Our question was:  How many of those are hazardous?  This was one which fell under the review.  We tested hazardous for lead.  My understanding is that the facility now manifests off that type of waste under a hazardous waste management manifest which they’re required to do.  So, we were satisfied with their response to our determination that that was hazardous waste.  


The other question which you asked in the letter to me was about the civil and criminal authority there.  I don’t have experience running an air quality management district.  I do have experience in my current role, and what I can say is that we find it useful and a bit less anxiety-provoking, I suppose, to be able to do a civil penalty, not worrying that we will be precluding a district attorney from doing his or her work.  There may be more ways to handle this.  We like to coordinate closely with district attorneys.  I guess we all have a fear sometimes that two sides aren’t talking to each other, and when they’re not talking to each other, that often brings problems.


That pretty much concludes my prepared remarks, and I’m happy to answer questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I have questions, but I know other members do too.


Senator Kuehl and Assemblymember Koretz.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thanks, Mr. Lowry.  I just want to review and see if I understand.


As regards to the schools that were built before the legislation was put in place, or who have not sought to add to the schools, which would also trigger something . . .


MR. LOWRY:  Correct.  If you’re going to use state money.


SENATOR KUEHL:  . . . DTSC needs to receive a request from the school district or the school?


MR. LOWRY:  Well, I’m not sure.  We need someone in authority saying, Please come look at our school.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And it’s a request to come in and check out the potential level of possible toxics and make an assessment about how to mitigate or remove.  Is that the usual request from these schools?


MR. LOWRY:  Generally, the scenario would be, We think we may have a problem.  Do you agree that there might be a problem?  And then, What would you recommend that we do?  We generally follow through with, Well, why don’t we do a preliminary endangerment assessment to determine whether anything needs to be done, and then follow up from that point.  I think in 17 of those 62 schools we concluded no further action was required.  There was concern but not concern which led to a conclusion that work needed to be done.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And what findings by DTSC could lead under any scenario to an order to do something to the school?


MR. LOWRY:  If we make a determination that a situation exists at a school with respect to hazardous materials that pose an imminent and substantial endangerment, then we have authority under existing law to issue an order.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, hazardous materials and imminent, substantial endangerment.


MR. LOWRY:  Correct.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Is it the same for new schools or additions?


MR. LOWRY:  Well, the difference with new schools and additions is whether or not anyone has a suspicion that there might be a problem.  A school district which wants money from the state construction funds must begin a process which says, Is there any possibility that there might be some hazardous materials on site?

SENATOR KUEHL:  So, you do not have any authority to tell those schools what to do either.  It’s simply if they want the money, they have to do it.


MR. LOWRY:  That’s correct.  But unless we approve the document which says there’s no problem where all work has been done, then they’re not eligible for state funds.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And as to the new school assessments that you do or the proposed addition assessments that you do, is that a part of your state budget, or do you charge the school district?


MR. LOWRY:  We charge the school districts.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And that would be the same for the schools that were built before the legislation.


MR. LOWRY:  That’s correct.  We do some preliminary work for free but not very much because of what you have told us to do in terms of charging for all the work that we do.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, some of the schools—17 of the schools—decided after you gave them a report that they didn’t want to do anything?


MR. LOWRY:  I’m sorry if I did say that.  I misled you.  Seventeen of those 62 schools—the conclusion was, there is no environmental problem here.


SENATOR KUEHL:  A conclusion by DTSC.


MR. LOWRY:  That’s correct.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Is there an average cost that you could tell us that the schools pay for these?  Let’s say just the ones that were built before the legislation.


MR. LOWRY:  In terms of what it costs for them to do a cleanup?


SENATOR KUEHL:  To use your services.


MR. LOWRY:  Well, for a simple Phase I assessment in the first instance, we charge somewhere around 11 to 15 hundred dollars.  If there’s a preliminary endangerment assessment, I think it goes up by a factor of two or three.  We can get the figures to you.  Right now, I’m sorry, I’m not . . .


SENATOR KUEHL:  Okay.  That would be of interest to me.


MR. LOWRY:  All right.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re welcome.


Assemblymember Koretz?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER KORETZ:  Thank you.


The thing I’ve been trying to ascertain so far throughout this hearing—and maybe you can be helpful in some way—the city’s studies have shown that, apparently, that there’s not enough of a hazard to be of concern.  The other side has basically said that their consultant has no standing and we shouldn’t pay any attention to the results.  So, my question is:  Where are we on this issue?  What were your discussions with the district about hiring a consultant?  Did you talk about this specific consultant?  Are they credible?  Have you ever worked with them before, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera?  I’m trying to get a handle on whether we should give those findings some credibility, any credibility, or just start over and ignore them.


MR. LOWRY:  I don’t know anything about the study that was done by the consultant.  We have not reviewed that study.  We had no role in selecting that consultant.  The discussions we had with the district were of the nature of, Would you like us to be the regulatory agency performing a similar role that we would in a new school?  And if you do, let’s have an agreement.  If you don’t, that will be the end of our role here, at least for now, and that’s where it went.  So, we didn’t have any discussion about this consultant or recommending a consultant, so I’m not very helpful to you in answering your question.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER KORETZ:  Do you have any experience with this consultant or knowledge of them?


MR. LOWRY:  I’ve had no personal experience and could not tell you the name of the consultant right now, even though it’s probably been mentioned two or three times today.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER KORETZ:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask a couple of questions, Mr. Lowry.  You indicated that there were 63 schools that preceded the Escutia law, whatever that’s called.


MR. LOWRY:  Sixty-two, I think.  That’s the figure I got this morning.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Sixty-two or 63 that sought DTSC review.


MR. LOWRY:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And 17 had no problems?


MR. LOWRY:  Seventeen had no problem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, 46 had some level of problems.


MR. LOWRY:  Seven of those dropped their request for one reason or another, and I’m not familiar, sitting here now, precisely why those investigations ended or our role ended.  We have completed five cleanups out of those 62, and we have 33 which we consider to be active cases.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And of those five that were cleaned up and the 32 that are still active, what were the types of ranges of exposure levels and risks to students that you found?


MR. LOWRY:  Sitting here now, I don’t have the risks involved, but what they generally involve is contamination of soil, either because of prior industrial activity at the site, pesticide use is often found, and sometimes you’ve got something built on a landfill or on a prior petroleum operation.  I went through a couple of those.  And sometimes you’ve had pollution from a neighboring enterprise migrate on site to contaminate the soil, and I think we’ve seen all of those.  I can’t tell you what the risk factors were now, but we can get you that information if you’d like it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That might be helpful because it might give us a first look at those pre- Escutia legislation.  School districts are now looking at trying to do something affirmatively, which is of great risk for school districts.  Financially, it’s a huge cost and potential liability, but I suspect that the fact that they took the lead and initiated that suggests that there was at least some concern.  


I’d also be curious to know those seven that dropped out for whatever reason—whether we have any way of determining that we should have had some authority to not allow them to drop out.


MR. LOWRY:  Okay.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t know if that’s even possible.


MR. LOWRY:  I just don’t have that information.  I’m sure Mr. Saebfar is taking good notes out there, and we’ll get the information to you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’d appreciate that.


I’m not sure where it was in the series of information I had, but did the school district initially ask you to come in and then withdraw the request?


MR. LOWRY:  Mr. Saebfar, again, had numerous phone calls from various people in the community saying, Why don’t you get involved?  This is a problem we think you ought to look at.  He wrote a letter to the school district, and that began the meetings that we had with them.  They responded to that letter.  We said, We’ve had these letters.  Here’s what we do.  If you think you have a problem which you want us to help you with, here we are.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you offered your services and your expertise, and they declined that and chose to go the private consultant route.


MR. LOWRY:  Ultimately yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Did they initially entertain DTSC coming in?


MR. LOWRY:  We were never retained, but there were serious discussions about what we might do.  I mean, it wasn’t an initial We don’t want you, we’re not interested.  It was, What do you have to say?  Why don’t we think about what you could do and think about what an agreement might look like.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you another question.  You were able to see the presentation of the findings from the consultant hired by the school district.  I think they were represented.  I hope they weren’t misrepresented.  I don’t believe they were.


MR. LOWRY:  I wasn’t here for all of that.  I had to go outside and talk about a settlement on another case.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Have you had a chance to independently review the school district’s consultant’s report?


MR. LOWRY:  No.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If we were to ask you to review that for the purposes of state policy development, could you and your staff tell us whether that is within the safe or unsafe levels that would have caused you, as DTSC, had you been invited by the school district to come on—whether it would have triggered enforcement actions?


MR. LOWRY:  I don’t know how much of an inquiry that would entail.  We would certainly respond to any requests that you have.  I can say now that I think what we would do on our own is probably broader in scope than what was done to address the problem as the school district saw it.  I don’t have an opinion right now as to whether it was appropriate or not.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’d like whatever is in the public record that has been made available on the consultant for the school district, if that’s appropriate.  I’d certainly like my office to get a copy if it’s public record.  If it’s the subject of litigation, then I don’t.


VICE MAYOR EGERMAN:  All of our test results are public.  We made a pledge to our community that they would be placed in the public record.  They’re on our website.  They’ve been available since the day we got them.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that clarification.  There’s been so much paper around here today.


What I’m going to ask you to do, Mr. Lowry, is review that—and take some time to report back to this committee in the Capitol—to the best of your ability since you don’t know necessarily the parameters of the testing or the scope or some of the other, probably, underlying data.


MR. LOWRY:  I think one of the things which would make that difficult—although, I’m not saying we can’t do it—is that what’s posted on the website probably does not have the underlying documentation for quality assurance and quality control, which is something we would ordinarily look at when reviewing a report like that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Well, we’ll see whether we can get some of that underlying documentation.  We’ll work with the school district to see what’s comfortable and appropriate.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I have just a follow-up question, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Aanestad had wanted to weigh in.  I had not finished, but go ahead.


SENATOR KUEHL:  We’ve been told that there are 25 underground, abandoned wells at the school site.  Would that be the kind of thing that DTSC would opine would require some testing?


MR. LOWRY:  What we would ordinarily do in looking at a new school site, where we know there are abandoned wells, is we would do soil testing to see what the level of various gases is in the soil.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I mean, one of the things, I guess, that concerns me, with all respect to the school district and everybody, is that unless a school district asks you to come in or a school asks you to come in, you don’t have any authority at the moment, and I’m kind of concerned about that, budgetary concerns aside.


Within the mission of the agency, do you think there should be the ability to override school districts’ wishes where there had been some information given about potential toxic materials on site, and what would be the level of concern that would warrant such an override?


MR. LOWRY:  Well, the standard we now have is whether something poses an imminent and substantial endangerment.  That standard, as we look at it now, based on the information which we had, did not lead us to conclude we needed to do something at Beverly Hills High School.  So, if you want to go down that road, you need a standard which is lower than that, and I’m not sure what that standard ought to be.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I’m not saying I want to go down that road at this particular road.  I’m trying to get a handle on what we might do about schools that are not now within your purview unless they ask you to come in and look at them. 


MR. LOWRY:  Well, you’d need a different standard, and I’m not sure what that necessarily ought to be.  


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


Senator Aanestad?


SENATOR AANESTAD:  Just a question on timing.  When was the Department of Toxics asked to come into the Beverly Hills situation?  Do you remember when that was?


MR. LOWRY:  I believe it was in February of 2003, and we had various parents calling us.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  At what point could you have been able to as a department look at the parents of the Beverly High School community and say, Yes, it’s safe, or No, it’s not safe for your kid to be in that school?  How long would that have taken?


MR. LOWRY:  Not knowing precisely what we would have found, I can’t be completely sure of my answer, but generally, it takes us between three and six months to do a full-scale preliminary endangerment assessment.  We’ve done some in two weeks when we’ve really geared up to get it done.  Some of them take longer.  So, I guess I’m confident that given the fact that this is a school—there are people there—that there was a sufficient interest.  I believe that the three- to six-month window is probably accurate for this one.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  So, you’re stating that you would have been able to tell the parents by the time school started the next fall, roughly, that Yeah, it’s okay to be here or No, don’t go to school.


MR. LOWRY:  I think we could have concluded our investigation.  


Now, one conclusion would be, Yeah, it’s appropriate to be here within acceptable levels of risk.  Another conclusion might be, We’ve looked at some things and we need to do some more work here.  That also could have happened.  Or another conclusion might have been, We don’t think it’s safe at this time to be here.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  Thank you.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  We have a follow-up question from Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Just one more question.  I’m not really aware of the actual language of the law.  


Is it the case that when school districts are looking at the siting of a new school, that they may not site a school next to an oil well or a power plant?  Or is it all relative in terms of your investigation?


MR. LOWRY:  I don’t think there’s a prohibition on their doing that.  We will send you a letter tomorrow if I’m wrong, but I don’t think that that’s prohibited.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you very much.  Thank you very much, Mr. Lowry.


We’ll jump right back into the agenda:  Barry Wallerstein, executive officer with the South Coast Air Quality Management District.


Welcome.


MR. BARRY WALLERSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  It’s a pleasure to be here today to address you about this issue.  With the committee’s approval, I have three of my executive staff members here for when we get to the questions to help with answering the questions.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  And you are passing out this document to the committee?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Yes.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  We shall accept those and if you can briefly summarize.  I know that there are members here that have a lot of questions for you, so the sooner you’re through with your testimony, you’ll be subject to questions.


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  I will go through this as quickly as I can.  


Just as a matter of background, I have a doctorate in environmental science and engineering from UCLA.  I’ve been in the air management field for over twenty years.  And just so the committee is aware, I’m a 1971 graduate of Beverly Hills High School; so I have familiarity with the campus.


As the next slide shows—just a quick background on the AQMD—we’re the largest local district.  We have 42 percent of the state’s population, but most importantly, I wanted to point out that we have nearly 27,000 facilities under permit, holding 60,000 permits, and tens of thousands of other facilities that fall subject to our regulation.  We have a twelve-member governing board.  Senator Alarcón was previously a member of our board.


Relative to this issue, our mission is, quite simply, protect public health from air pollution.  Our interest in this issue has been to protect the kids, the teachers, the community members, and, at the same time, to be mindful that we need to be sensitive to treating fairly the operator.  We have world-recognized expertise in monitoring, source testing, rule development, permits, and enforcement.  In fact, our rules are most frequently considered the most stringent anywhere in the nation.


I have a highly technical staff.  We have a staff of 800 individuals.  Many of those positions are scientists and engineers with advanced degrees.  


The last bullet here highlights that we do have an active enforcement program.  In fact, we have assessed the largest penalty of any local air district for an air quality violation anywhere in the country.  So, we’re not soft on businesses, and our approach to this . . . 


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  But also, with regard to this particular hearing, I want to notify the members that your testimony will not deal with consultations that you’ve had with the district attorney over Venoco’s violations as a result of an active criminal investigation.


Is that correct?  You will not be able to testify as to that.


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Well, I have my chief prosecutor here who later can tell you . . .


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  I only want some guidance so that the members know how to frame their questions.  We don’t want to ask the wrong questions.


MR. PETER MIERAS:  To my knowledge—members of the committee, I’m Peter Mieras, the chief prosecutor at the AQMD—there is no active criminal investigation occurring at this time.  


MR. STANLEY WILLIAMS:  Excuse me.  Members of the dais . . .


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  And you are who?


MR. WILLIAMS:  I am Stanley Williams from the Los Angeles County District Attorney’s Office, and we do, in fact, have a pending investigation.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So, we have this now.  Okay.  All right.


MR. WILLIAMS:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  That’s fine.  So, I would say that if there is an active, pending investigation, then we cannot ask questions about that, and I would assume that you cannot testify about that.


All right.  I didn’t mean to interrupt you.  Go right ahead.


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  I did want to quickly point out that while we have some expertise, we do not consider ourselves the ultimate experts in epidemiological issues, radiation exposure, hazardous soil analysis, water quality, or explosion risks in terms of the probability of explosion, although our staff are trained to be able to detect explosion risk.


We were asked about the chronology.  I’ll just very briefly describe this for you.  


We were contacted by the local CBS affiliate.  They said they had some air samples from Southern California; would we come on camera and comment about the high levels of pollutants in those samples.  They initially didn’t tell us where the samples were taken.  Over about a two-week period, we came to learn they were taken in Beverly Hills and ultimately at Beverly Hills High School.  We had an opportunity to talk to the lab that analyzed the samples, and it was, in our judgment, that we should in fact just go out and sample ourselves after having that discussion, and then we would be prepared to talk about what the pollution levels might be on the campus.


Before we went to the campus, we contacted the school district to let them know we were going to sample on their campus.  At that point, we became aware of the litigation—or pending litigation at that point—that was involved in this matter.  Again, we’ve just gone about doing our work and tried to stay out of the litigation.


As indicated, here we’ve gone through a number of steps of controlling emissions at the facility; of taking air samples.  I’ll go into more detail about this.


We have been giving considerable attention to this issue.  In fact, if we look at the next slide, we have visited the facility 31 times in 2003.  That is not normal when you have 27,000 facilities.  We’ve received two odor complaints, although we were not able to confirm those.  But what I would like to point out is we looked at past records, and in recent years we haven’t had any public nuisance complaints like odors, and that’s the sort of thing that would draw an oil well facility to our immediate attention.  That was not occurring in this case.  


There’s been a lot of comments over the last year about our laboratory.  I just want to assure the committee we have a large professional staff of 35 chemists.  We analyze over 20,000 samples a year of various types of pollutants, and we are approved by both the USEPA and the State Air Resources Board, including annual audits for air toxics analysis, and we’re also accredited for asbestos identification.  


There’s been a lot said about the sampling devices and how we sampled.  I want to assure the committee that we have sampled properly.  There are some limitations to how you interpret the data, but the samples were taken and analyzed properly.  This is what the Masry law firm used.  This is what we’ve used.  This is what the city of Beverly Hills’ consultant’s using.  It’s a canister.  It’s clean, so it doesn’t have any pollutants on the inside.  It’s put under a vacuum.  We have a valve up here that slowly sucks the air in, in the case of most of our samples, over an eight-hour period.  Then we bring the canister back to the laboratory, and we analyze the sample.  Because of the sensitivity of this matter, I also want the committee to know that when we went out to sample, I had staff members watch these canisters for the full eight hours.  They did not leave the canisters.  So, we believe that we’ve gone through all the proper steps to prepare the canisters and then to collect the samples, chain of custody, and to analyze the samples.  


And I would note that Mr. Hagemann actually commented that, you know, an agency needs to be doing the sample for the samples to be valid, when he was testifying before you a little while ago.


The next slide shows the type of sampling we did.  As the issue developed, our sites for samples changed a bit, but what I would like to point out—it’s a little hard to see—but south of the ball field, you see a major boulevard there.  That’s Olympic Boulevard.  So, it’s a heavy traffic area.  As you could tell from the earlier photograph, Century City is directly to the west of this.  I’m going to talk about motor vehicle contribution, and it is significant in this area.


But the bottom line is we sampled in the bleachers of the athletic field, on the softball field (indicated the ball field).  We sampled on the Venoco property itself, adjacent to the equipment, and adjacent to the large boulevard (Olympic Boulevard) because we suspected we would get our highest pollutant concentrations there.  Because of my familiarity with the area, I also wanted to sample at the park which is catty-corner to  the campus—Roxbury Park.  It’s used by many youth, athletic teams, as well as seniors who go bowling there—lawn bowling.  And I wanted us to be comprehensive about the issue.


The next slide shows that we’ve taken a variety of samples on various dates.  It was mentioned earlier that we sampled when they weren’t operating, when they were producing only gas, and when they were in full production of oil and gas.  So, we think we’ve covered a whole gambit of potential operating conditions, and we’ve been doing it at multiple locations.  And the integrated means that we were doing—in essence, eight-hour samples—the grab samples are instantaneous samples.  


And I also want to point out on this chart that the second column (source samples)—because there’s been some confusion about this—we have taken a number of samples at the well gas directly from their pipes before it’s emitted to the air and diffused in the air.  So, some of the concentrations of benzene that have been reported in the press are in the pipe.  It’s not what someone breathes.


The next slide is a matter of background.  In preparation for my following slide, we’ve tried to piece this together in a lot of little pieces—because of data limitation—to look at the whole of it to discern whether folks should be significantly concerned on an air basis at this time.  What’s illustrated for you here is simply the Cal-EPA Health Hazard Assessment REL levels that are used for reference exposure level relative to health effects.  And I’m going to compare our findings on our next chart to these levels.


This shows our samples for the Venoco site.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Would you go back to that slide for a minute?  


I’m sorry, Madam Chair.  I just had a question.  


Is it possible to go backwards?


This says “below which no adverse non-cancer health effects are anticipated.”


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Yes.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Is there a different measurement for cancer-related health effects?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Typically, the non-cancer health effects are at a lower level than the cancer-health effects, and when we get to our actual estimates of risk . . . 


SENATOR KUEHL:  I just want to make sure I know what you’re saying because this is “the concentration below which no adverse non-cancer health effects . . .”  So, if you’re saying a lower level, do you mean that you’d find it with fewer particles?  There would be a cancer risk?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  No, it’s above these levels that we have a health concern.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, you said a lower level, so I’m trying to figure this out.


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  This is Dr. Jean Ospital, who is our health effects expert.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Hi there, Doctor.


DR. JEAN OSPITAL:  Hello.  I’d be happy to address your question.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.


DR. OSPITAL:  The reference exposure limits are set for non-cancer effects because these effects are thought to have a threshold below which no effects occur.  So, you’d have to be above that toxic threshold to get the effect.  And what OEHHA does is apply various safety factors to data—either from occupational studies or laboratory studies that show levels of health effects—apply these safety factors and come up with what they call the “reference exposure level.”


For cancer effects for most substances, it’s assumed that there is no threshold.  That’s the way cancer-causing chemicals work is they can interact with our genetic material.  So, theoretically, very few molecules can cause damage and result in a cell changing its metabolism and turning into a cancer cell.  So, the way they do that is to come up with a risk or probability of cancer based on the exposure.  So, there’s a continuing gradient.  The higher the exposure, of course, the higher the risk, and there is no threshold.


So, it’s a different way of calculating potential risks, and these are what’s used.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, for substances for which there may be no risk, no non-cancer health effect below these levels, there may still be a cancer-related health effect that we don’t _________ for that.


DR. OSPITAL:  Yes.  Right.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And that’s expressed as, if you’re exposed to this—not necessarily at a certain level but just to the material itself—there’s a ten in a million or three in a million or . . .


DR. OSPITAL:  The way cancer risks are derived, cancer is a disease that takes many years to develop.  That’s what’s called a long latency period.  So, you may have ten, twenty, forty years worth of exposure before you get cancer.  Cigarette smoking is a classic example.  Most of the increase in cancers in cigarette smokers don’t occur until after they’re fifty.  I mean, some are lower but the rates goes up.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, as to cigarette smoking, just making up some numbers, you might say for cigarettes, a concentration of nicotine below “X” number, there’d be no adverse non-cancer health effects.  But for cigarettes there would be 248 in a million chance.


DR. OSPITAL:  There would be a gradient based on the exposure, and those exposures are assumed to occur over a lifetime—seventy or a lifetime.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Thanks, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


Mr. Wallerstein, were you still in your testimony?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Yes.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Can we go back to the next slide, which was the chart?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  This slide shows in green our sampling data from the Venoco site over by Olympic Boulevard.  This shows in addition to that our Beverly Hills sampling sites in the bleachers and the ball field, and then it also shows you the Masry data that we received from KCBS.  And then we’ve shown from the previous slide the OEHHA REL levels.  Where you see the horizontal bar at the top, especially on the REL levels but also on the acetone values for the Masry data, that is because we’ve set the chart to 30 parts per billion.  And in the case of the acetone, it was actually 56 and 41 parts per billion that were measured.  It just wouldn’t fit on the chart.  We didn’t want to change the scale because it would have made all the rest of the measurements look too small.


I do want to point out that the bars for our measurements that are on the farthest right are from the 27th of February this year, and this is the first time we’re sharing this data with the public—or with anyone.  We did find a higher than expected toluene level, as shown there, at about 17 parts per billion at the school in the bleachers.


Having said all of that, looking at our levels, as I will summarize in a few slides, we were unable to match what the Masry law firm found; and what we found, as I will show in the next couple of slides, does correlate, with the exception of the toluene measurement, fairly well with ambient air in Southern California.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  Before you leave that bar graphing, would you go back to it please?


At the top, in the first column under “acetone,” you have 56/41.  What is that measure?  Do you see right here under acetone and straight up with the Masry data that yellow bar?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  That’s just the concentration for those two bars.  The one on the left represents 56 parts per billion.  The one on the right 41 parts per billion.  That would have been off the chart.  But if we had scaled the chart to be able to show it, then all the other green and blue bars would have looked so small, and we would have been accused of trying to make the levels look small.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Now, can you please repeat what you said?  The data to the right, this is the first time you’ve shown it to the public.  What exactly are you referring to again?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Under “toluene,” the longest blue bar, at 17 is a measurement this year that is higher than you would expect to find in local air quality; and so, I was pointing that out.  But it’s not a level that is so high that we would say that there was an acute problem.  The toluene material is typically found in paints and solvents.  We actually went back to the high school, talked to the maintenance people, visited the Venoco facility, to see if we could discover where the toluene might be coming from, and at this point we don’t have a conclusive answer.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Did you have a question, Senator Aanestad?  All right.


Senator Alarcón?


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Just very specifically, what is the federal standard for acetone?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  The reason that we haven’t shown an REL for acetone is because there isn’t one.  Right now it’s not listed as an air toxic.  The acetone levels in the Masry samples were also very high for what you would expect to find in typical air, but it’s, again, indicative traditionally of paint and solvent use, not of oil well operations.


This slide, just quickly, shows our data compared to the data that we had from the city of Beverly Hills’ sampling and shows some good correlation.  But again, the city and its sample also found some significantly higher levels of acetone.


I should point out that the school’s maintenance shop is about 300 feet upwind of the bleachers where we were sampling, and the storage shed for the paints and solvents is slightly outside the building[?].  So, we’re not sure if there is some effect of some maintenance work that we’re picking up in our sampling or it’s another source.  We just don’t really know.


The next slide is a slide where we took seven of our ambient air quality stations from Southern California, averaged the data, then averaged our data from the Beverly Hills High School site to show a comparison.  Again, there’s nothing that we would say is outside the norm.


So, our summary of our direct monitoring through these canister samples is one high sample of toluene (February of this year); otherwise, everything else looks to be within normal ranges.  Some of the light hydrocarbons, the other hydrocarbons, are below levels that we would consider harmful; at least in our samples.  And we were not able to duplicate the data of the Masry law firm.


Now, I want to talk a moment about risk assessments because you’ve heard other comments about what we’ve done and haven’t done.  There’s two techniques that are generally used.  One is to go out and take ambient samples.  Generally, that’s done for at least a year so you can cover all the seasons and weather conditions and changes in the wind, and then you can use that data through the risk assessment techniques and models.


The other approach is to use emission factors and source tests from the facility itself and then run that through a model.  Obviously, when we take a canister sample, that’s what’s in the air at the moment that sample’s taken.  It’s nothing more, nothing less.


We have compared our canister samples taken at Beverly Hills High School and also at the park to data we have from 1998 and ’99 for a twelve-compound suite to see if there was anything abnormal compared to what we see regionwide or in downtown Los Angeles and is shown for you here.  No, there isn’t.  We would expect Beverly Hills to be lower than the regionwide average, which is the case here in the chart.


I wanted to show this slide because, when we look at air quality in Southern California or other urban areas of California, 70 percent of the carcinogenic risk in the air is driven by diesels.  It’s the diesel emissions.  The other major drivers are 1,3 butadiene from combustion processes and benzene from combustion processes and the fueling of gasoline-powered vehicles.  The data—this is out of our main study—for Beverly Hills as a community is about a thousand in a million.  So, I wanted to put some perspective to the source of numbers that are being discussed here.  
So, an overall air quality risk of about a thousand in a million, and then what’s happening at the campus we’ve been describing.


There were comments about our Notices of Violation.  The actual settlement had a total value at the time of over $70,000, not $10,000.  We took 10,000 in cash because we always do that as a deterrent to future violations, but we also worked in this case to do a Supplemental Environmental Project which entailed all the things listed for you here.  We restricted their permit very clearly:  no further venting of gas.  They had to put a rupture disk in the vent that would set off an alarm if they ever vent again.  In addition to that, we have required fence-line monitoring along the two fences that border the high school campus which is an open-path, infrared, hydrocarbon analyzer that will set off an alarm.  We’ll be notified.  There’s a provision in the agreement for Venoco to work out a way of notification with the high school as well.


In addition, I would like to point out that relative to the monitoring, the way that got worked into the agreement is the chairman of the school board suggested that we put fence-line monitoring into the agreement.  So, what we did is, instead of taking cash, we put it back to this site to help address community concerns.


I would also like to say that relative to the penalties—and Peter can speak to this more if you would like—in this case, if we used what is our normal yardstick for the types of violations they had, Venoco could have argued to us that this was a much higher penalty than we traditionally would have imposed for these types of violations.  Yesterday, the staff told me that the total worth is probably not $70,000; it’s probably $100,000.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you to clarify that because I want to understand that.  So, $100,000—are we to understand that that’s ten days of violations because the figure is $10,000 a day?


MR. MIERAS:  In explaining that, would you like me to go through each Notice of Violation and tell you why I think . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think that would be appropriate, unless Mr. Wallerstein still has . . . 


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  We have a few more slides to cover.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s clarify that.


MR. MIERAS:  What’s your pleasure?  Do it now?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please.


MR. MIERAS:  Okay.  I’ll try to be as brief as possible.


We had three Notices of Violation that were issued to Venoco.  Again, I’m Peter Mieras, the chief prosecutor for the agency.  And the first Notice of Violation, you heard that they were cited for operating without a permit going back to March of 2000.  This was a count that was listed in error in the Notice of Violation.  They had an application on file which meant that they had a temporary authority to operate.  So, that count was not considered in the penalty assessment.  That Notice of Violation also covered the days that the produced gas was vented through the stack because they were no longer able to sell gas to the gas company for a certain numbers of days.  That did not exceed thirty days.  I don’t have the exact number in front of me, but it wasn’t more than thirty days for that entire period of time.  So, there’s thirty days associated for the first Notice of Violation.


The second Notice of Violation, Venoco was cited for having fugitive leaks on four [sic] days:  April 6th, April 10th, and April 19th.  So, there’s three more days.  That makes it 33 days total.


The third Notice of Violation, Venoco was cited for hooking up some carbon absorbers for the amine unit, which is a violation of our Rule 201.  That’s a one-day violation.


So, all together, as I look at the evidence in this case, there’s 35 days of violation.  There’s no evidence that the operator intentionally, deliberately, willfully created these violations, so I’m using the figure of $10,000 a day.  So, all together, you could get a maximum total penalty—potential penalty—of $350,000.  


Now, under Section 42403 of the Health and Safety Code, there’s a legislative mandate that we consider eight mitigation factors in assessing the penalties.  So, you have this potential penalty.  You have to arrive at an adjusted penalty applying these mitigation factors.  These factors include such things as past compliance history and the response to the violation by the operator.  Venoco had no compliance history with the district, so they were a first-time violator with respect to each of these types of violations.  They also were very, very cooperative and responsive when we contacted them about these problems.  They immediately stopped venting gas when we asked them to, and they stayed shut in for, I think, up to six months throughout this entire process.  They produced their books and records as requested.  They were cooperative on the inspections.  And as Dr. Wallerstein indicated, we inspected them some 31 times in the past year.  And there are other factors listed in 42403, all of which must be considered.


So, in my judgment, mitigating the $350,000 maximum potential penalty to a figure of $70,000 was reasonable under the circumstances, and that’s the penalty that we assessed.  I’m learning for the first time today that, actually, the monitoring may amount to a total of $100,000.


So, that’s the penalty, in short.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  You may continue with your presentation, Mr. Wallerstein.


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  I also want to mention that when we issue a violation notice, the staff goes back out to ensure that the facility has come into compliance with the rules and regulations and the repairs have been made.


We’ve taken a number of other actions.  It was mentioned earlier that we are requiring them to conduct a full risk assessment, again using emission factors and source samples.  That will be submitted to us no later than the end of this month, and then we will review that, have the state review it, and then we’ll do the appropriate noticing.  It may trigger one of our regulations to cause further controls to be implemented at the facility.  We have to see what the number is that comes out of the risk assessment.


In addition, because we hadn’t been placing a high priority on oil and gas production facilities—oil wells—we used our field staff to go out and inspect 185 additional facilities, and part of that inspection was to target facilities that were in close proximity to schools.


In addition to that, we have adopted a regulation to tighten up emission control requirements for oil well operations within our jurisdiction.  We believe that this newly adopted regulation adopted last week is as tight or tighter than any provision elsewhere in the state, and we have incorporated stricter requirements for facilities that are within 500 feet—or, excuse me, 333 feet of a school.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you’ve done that administratively without statutory authority on point?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  No.  Actually, we used our existing statutory authority to adopt this regulation, but we put a sensitive receptor provision in.  We believe we have current authority to do it.  Our board is really pioneering the effort in the state to put in sensitive receptor provisions within our commanding control regulations.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is this the Section 1148.1?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I was going to get to that question because that raised some bit of a controversy with the oil and gas . . . [inaudible].  I think we’re going to hear from them later.  Thank you for doing that.


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Now, if I can just quickly move through a couple of the other issues you’ve heard about.  


The next slide is the issue of hexane.  In the early press reports, there was a researcher using the Masry data that said the hexane concentration of 38 parts per million was of concern to him.  We think when you actually look at the laboratory report, it wasn’t reported just as hexane.  It included hexane and all other carbon molecules heavier than a C6.  There are other molecules mixed into there, so it’s not a 38 part per million reading of hexane in that sample.


The next issue you’ve heard about today is explosion, and I think that’s an issue that certainly deserves some discussion.  I want to emphasize that we direct our staff to take a precautionary approach.  That’s our way of looking at this.  So, when we discovered the first time we went out there they were venting gas, they were doing it at 165 feet in the air.  But from our perspective, there’s a school campus and there’s a hospital behind it.  We looked at their permit.  We told them to stop and desist.  We’ve since done some modeling that would not have created an explosion risk at ground level because it dilutes in the air from 165 feet as it moves out towards the ground.


In addition to that, it’s been mentioned that we. . . . you’ve seen some of the memos, internal memos, from our staff.  Our staff did go out to the facility.  We did measure 400 ppm in the general area of some equipment.  The explosive limit is 50,000 ppm, so we weren’t in a situation where there was a risk of explosion, as best we can determine in hindsight looking at our inspector’s report.  In fact, if you look back at that inspector’s memo that was shown to you earlier, what wasn’t highlighted for you was a little lower on the page.  It said, “Honestly, I may be overstating the hazard here.”  So, we would encourage you to look back at that.


In terms of where we measured 100,000 ppm leaks, this is putting the probe right at a bubble of gas, and because you have a concentration that’s this high, there isn’t enough oxygen there where you would have an explosion potential.  This is what my staff has informed me.  And we don’t believe it is uncommon for our staff to go out to a, like, large refinery and put a probe right next to an actual leak where you’re an inch away or less and find high concentrations.  We also want to point out, these aren’t benzene concentrations.  These are natural gas concentrations that have a minute amount of benzene.  If you have an opportunity to look back at our inspector’s memo, it was raining that night; they were having difficulties with the lights.  And so, when they put all that together, they didn’t want to proceed with the inspection.  But having said that, we immediately contacted the operator.  They corrected the leaks.  We contacted the fire department—again, as a precaution—to go out and investigate, and then we instituted more intensive field inspection to make sure that there wasn’t a problem with leaks or potential for explosion.


You’ve also heard about the Sempra Energy central plant.  I just want to clarify:  this provides steam and hot water to the office buildings and, I guess, the hospital in Century City.  On the slide, it’s right to the right of the oil well.  You see a slight whitish coming up.  That’s steam.  If we take all the boilers and engines that are at this facility, it amounts to about 35 megawatts.  A standard-sized power plant is about 1,000 megawatts.  This is not a very large pollution source like a large power plant, but it is under federal law a substantial pollution source.


I would like to next comment on some of our risk estimates.  They’ve improved and changed over time.  We’ve looked at this amine unit that operated for about two years before we denied the permit and issued a violation.  We believe a realistic estimate of the risk, before they improved the control equipment so we could approve the facility, was less than 10 in a million, and in its current operating state less than one in a million.  For the Sempra Energy plant, we believe a realistic estimate of risk is one in a million.  So, again, if you think about ambient air quality being a thousand in a million, then these levels of risk are part of that contribution to that overall risk of, roughly, maybe a thousand in a million in the general area of Beverly Hills. 


We’ve done a number of things to date, as I’ve been describing, but we have some additional steps to proceed with.  Implementation of the fence-line monitoring, I believe, will be around the end of this month.  We intend to continue to do periodic sampling with our canisters.  We’re going to continue to inspect the facility.  I’ve directed my staff to give a higher priority to facilities near school sites, as we prioritize our annual work, and then we will continue to put sensitive receptor provisions in our commanding control regulations to better protect schools and homeowners and hospitals and retirement communities.


Just as a side bar, when Matt was up here, he showed you a sign and an alarm that goes off in Santa Barbara.  That’s not a comparable situation.  Staff has told me that is specific to hydrogen sulfide—the sour gas, strong sulfur smell.  That’s a hazardous gas.  We don’t have that problem at this location.  So, one could say, maybe there should be some kind of an alarm if they had an upset at the facility, but there’s no H2S problem.  It’s not directly comparable.


Lastly, some general policy recommendations.  I personally do believe we could have better agency coordination, and I think Cal-EPA could sit down with local air districts and some of the other parties and talk about having some kind of screening procedure where something rises to a level, then we all go to work.  But, obviously, as you’ve listened to me talk about this and heard from others, there’s a balancing act here between the amount of resources you pour into something and the basis upon which you’re pouring those resources that are vitally needed in other areas in terms of health risk.


I also believe that all of us can do a much better job of providing guidance to local school districts and cities and counties about where to locate things; the dos and don’ts:  Do you put a facility next to a school, or do you put that equipment in that location or another location?  We have actually drafted a model air quality element for general plans for local jurisdictions which we are about to distribute to those jurisdictions.  I’m also serving on an advisory committee at the State Air Resources Board that’s trying to put some guidance together to land use planners.  But I think there’s a hole in our information in terms of outreach to school districts and having something specific to their needs.


You’ve heard a lot about monitoring, what people would like.  Again, it’s a dollars question.  Each of these canister samples is probably a thousand dollars or more, if you look at the analysis and collecting of the sample, not to mention the purchase of the equipment to do that.  And so, what we need is low-cost sampling techniques.  Electronic noses have been in development for years to be able to monitor at a low cost specific compounds.  The state and the local districts need to partner to try and facilitate the development of that kind of technology.  Then, we’ll be able to give you good fence-line monitoring all over a campus at a low cost, but it’s going to take some more technology development.


I put a question mark after “Legislation” because I had to go to my legislative committee of my policy board this morning and I wasn’t sure what they were going to say about Senator Ortiz’ bill, SB 1211.  I have an interim approval to support with amendments the bill.  We have a little different way of eliminating the bar for dual penalties under criminal and civil that we would like to suggest to the author.  In addition to that, we would like to suggest for consideration a couple of other enhancements.  One would be to provide that if equipment has been tampered with and a repair person comes out to repair that equipment and can clearly see it’s been tampered with, that if they go ahead and repair that equipment and leave the equipment in place in the tampered fashion, that they be subject to a violation themselves and prosecution.


And secondly, there’s an unused provision in state law that allows local air districts, if someone were to raise to the air district’s attention a violation of a mobile source nature, that we can provide, at our election, up to a $5,000 reward for pointing it out to us.  We have very limited regulatory authority over mobile sources.  What we would suggest is that that be expanded to include stationary sources and that that authority level be raised to a figure such as $50,000.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  These are much-welcomed recommendations, and I know my staff is working with you to get the details.


Are there more, Mr. Wallerstein?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Just two more quick comments.


We think we’ve discharged our legal duty.  We’re not perfect, but we’ve really applied a lot of resources and tried to properly address this issue, and we’re not finished.  We’re going to stick with the community and the school district and the city until everyone has the answers that they need.


Lastly, there were some comments about getting public records from us.  If someone has a problem with that, all they have to do is contact me, and I will do my best to see that they get the records.  If they didn’t receive some things, it may be because they’re protected under law as confidential materials so that a facility isn’t at an economic disadvantage while one of its competitors seeks certain information.  But I think you could tell from the nature of the press coverage and some of the internal e-mails that were displayed here today, we’re not hiding anything.  We don’t have anything to hide.  We’re available to talk to people when they would like to talk to us about this matter and our activities.


With that, we’ll be happy to answer any questions you have.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Senator Kuehl?


SENATOR KUEHL:  You were talking about instances in which something (quote) “rises to a level” (closed quote) of concern.  I’m interested in the question of the aggregation of various compounds.


My first question goes to the Sempra Energy plant where you said it was required to be listed as some kind of pollutant.  What kind of pollutant is it?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Well, actually, the principal pollutant of concern from the Sempra Energy plant is oxides of nitrogen which contributes to surface level ozone problems as well as our fine particulate problems here on the south coast.  But in the course of burning natural gas, the facility does emit a little bit of benzene.  So, what we do is look at how much gas they burn and then look at the portion of that that would be attributed to benzene, and then we do air quality modeling to see what the risk would be at the campus.  And as we’re mentioning, our best estimate at this time is that the facility creates a risk of less than one in a million.  


There has actually been some confusion about that facility because we have a penalty in our rules for that type of facility, that if they don’t have automated equipment to monitor the emissions, even if they turn the source off, we assume that they’ve been operating twenty-four hours a day, every day.  So, they have to go ahead and report those emissions and pay emission fees based on that as a deterrent to get their monitoring equipment installed and operating.  And I think that’s created confusion with the community.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And you said that there’s a particular risk there, perhaps one in a million, in another compound from another emitter one in a million, and you said that’s a part of our estimate; that in Los Angeles County we have, maybe, 1,000 in a million cancers for—whatever.  Does that mean that you aggregate these cancer risks in order to come up with what’s acceptable or unacceptable?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  We actually have a series of tiered source-specific regulations that, first of all, sets a toxics limitation on risk from any given piece of equipment that is to be added or modified at a facility.  And we have a separate regulation for the overall facility risk from all of its equipment.  In addition to that, we have a number of other programs that the board is moving forward on, especially relative to sensitive receptors, to look at potentially lowering the thresholds.  Beyond all of that, we—and Senator Alarcón knows well—in this multiple air toxics emission study, we went out and measured air toxics levels, then created a computer model to estimate the measured levels.  Once we validated the model, we can use the model to estimate risk.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Of the aggregate?


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  Of the aggregate regionwide.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, would that be the same for purposes of measuring risks on this campus?  Let’s say non-cancer health risks.


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  I think for purposes of measuring especially cancer risk on this campus, what we . . . [recording tape turned – portion of text    missing] . . . look at the multiple stationary sources.  But as I was trying to illustrate by that pie chart, we can guarantee you that the highest risk associated in this community is the motor vehicle population.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, that’s going to always be a problem in terms of saying, you know, Well, you think that’s bad—just go out and breathe here, but that’s not what we’re concerned about at the moment.  I didn’t mean that’s what you were saying, but we were looking at those two blue lines that go way higher than anything you measure.


My final question is, in terms of the chart that I asked you to go back to before about the lowest level that is not threatening to health of these various kinds of compounds, is there an assessment of what the combination of these various kinds of elements or compounds have on human health?  Let’s say this one’s okay and that one’s okay and that one’s okay, and everything is just below these levels.


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  That’s typically what we do in the way of a risk assessment because for the risk assessment, there is a cancer risk as well as a non-cancer risk that is calculated.  And this facility, by the end of this month, is going to give us the comprehensive risk caused by all the emissions from all their equipment.  Once we have that, we’ll go through it, verify it, let the public know, and it may trigger additional control requirements for this facility.


The hardest question I’ve had in these many months in listening to parents—because I’ve talked to many parents, crying parents, pulling their kids from the school or athletic teams—is should they have their child at this school?  I told them they had to answer that for themselves, but I also told them, just based on this information—it could change with new information—but based on the information we have at hand, I would allow my child to attend that school.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know Senator Aanestad had a question.  Senator Alarcón, did you want to also?


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  I just want to know if Dr. Wallerstein’s children go to Belmont High.


MR. WALLERSTEIN:  No.  But, I have to tell you, Senator Alarcón, the thing that has driven most of our resource input into this has been the high level of anxiety in the community.  But as I look at this situation and I think about the other school sites in your district and Senator Escutia’s district and probably elsewhere in Senator Kuehl’s district, at some point I start to wonder if I have enough data and I’ve done the right things with the fence-line monitoring and other efforts; that out of a matter of fairness, I need to put more attention to those other sites because we do have limited resources.  It all gets down to resources.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We can’t even get to those unless. . . . well, you may be able to, but DTSC can’t get there unless they’re invited in.  Most of those schools preceded Senator Escutia’s legislation as to DTSC’s jurisdiction.  So, I appreciate that, though.  That’s a point well taken.


Let me just say, I know that we have to be out of here in half an hour on the road, and we have the district attorney’s office as well as representatives from oil and gas.  I just want to caution everybody that I have to leave in half an hour.


Let’s hear from the representative from the district attorney’s office.  Obviously, if you can go through your presentation quickly and make your points.


MR. WILLIAMS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Madam Chair, members of the dais, I will be brief.  First of all, I’d like to preface my comments by first reiterating the fact that we do have an open investigation regarding the Beverly Hills High School and the facts surrounding those facts.  As a result, I will be very limited as to my comments that I can make about any facts involving the Beverly Hills High School and its investigation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you to clarify something.  You have an ongoing investigation, but is it new facts and new. . . . I mean, I know you probably can’t talk about it, but I assume that it’s separate and apart from the civil penalties and somehow is getting around the current 42400.7 Health and Safety Code provision that precludes criminal prosecution.


MR. WILLIAMS:  Right.  There were a number of issues that we were looking at.  Many of the issues are existing issues.  We are still obtaining new information involving reports.  I think that’s about as much as I can say regarding that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  New facts.  Okay.  Continue.


MR. WILLIAMS:  I think what might be important, in the interest of time, is to talk about Health and Safety Code Section 42007 which does have an impact upon the district attorney’s office in Los Angeles and throughout the state itself.


Just to give you some information, if an air district such as AQMD or any other in-force entity has already recovered civil penalties for any violation of the statute regulating to air emissions or air pollution sources pursuant to the Health and Safety Code, the same air violations may not be prosecuted as a crime under Section 42400.  That essentially means that if AQMD or some other entity has obtained civil penalties, then we are precluded from prosecuting the same set of facts and circumstances where civil penalties have already been obtained.  Also, if an air district refers a violation to the district attorney’s office, the filing of a criminal complaint will require the dismissal of the civil action filed for the same offense.  


So, essentially, this particular Health and Safety Code section manifested a detriment, really, to both the air district and to the district attorney’s office.  There are often times where you may want to have an ongoing investigation through both the regulatory agency and the district attorney’s office.


Also, I’d like to preface this by saying that in areas involving air enforcement issues, the air districts are the primary regulatory agency, and we rely upon them and also with DTSC.  We rely upon them to conduct an investigation and to proffer information and evidence to us, as we are, essentially, the last enforcement opportunity for laws affecting the people of Los Angeles County through state laws.


Under Section 42007, it’s truly the only environmental statute which has expressed prohibition against companion civil and criminal prosecution.  For example, Water Code Section 6.5—which deals with hazardous waste—contains no expressed prohibition against such filings.  And also, it should be noted that such companion civil and criminal violations are not a violation of the double jeopardy clause.  That was settled in Hudson vs. United States.  


So, again, just to talk about the effect that this law has on both the district attorney’s office and the air resources boards, it is, in effect, a detrimental effect.  So, the repeal of this law will have an overall beneficial impact both on prosecutors and on the regulatory agencies.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that overview of the statute and the position of the district attorney’s office, and I appreciate you acknowledging that there may be an ongoing investigation independent of the facts that were covered in the civil penalty earlier.  Obviously, you’ve got an investigation underway, and we have to honor and respect that.


MR. WILLIAMS:  I would also like to indicate that our office has reviewed Senate Bill 1211, and we do have a support position for Senate Bill 1211.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I do appreciate that.  Thank you for that.  I’ll look forward to working with AQMD on their recommendations as well and your office.


I’m going to allow Senator Escutia to chair as I take a moment outside of the dais.  We will continue to allow all speakers to come forward.  I, unfortunately, have a plane to catch in a bit, but others will stay here and give fair time to all.


Senator Escutia?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you.  I have a question, but I will hold that.  I don’t know if Senator Kuehl has a question or Senator Aanestad to the witness here?


Then, the question that I have is greater clarification as to the existing law that you said that allows, I think, in certain environmental violations, it allows both a civil as well as a criminal penalty, but that in this situation, there was some kind of exemption crafted somewhere along the legislative process that disallows the criminal sanction if a civil penalty is assessed.


What is the standard of, say, intent?  Is it negligence, gross negligence, reckless negligence?  What’s the standard for these criminal penalties to attach?


MR. WILLIAMS:  Well, the standards vary based upon the statute itself.  There are a number of statutes under the Health and Safety Code section that involves environmental issues that could either be a negligence standard or it could be a strict liability standard.  


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  A strict liability standard could trigger a criminal penalty?


MR. WILLIAMS:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  And at times, as you well know, strict liability times, you don’t have to have intent; but rather, the fact that the violation occurs, whether it was negligent or not, still triggers liability.


MR. WILLIAMS:  Correct.  The differences, of course, you’d still have to prove the criminal case beyond a reasonable doubt.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  Any other questions from the members?


Seeing none, thank you very much, Mr. Williams.


I think our next witness is Jason Marshall and Richard Baker.  All right.  We have you on board.  Thank you.


Mr. Marshall?


MR. JASON MARSHALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I’m Jason Marshall.  I’m the assistant director of the Department of Conservation.  Within the department is the Division of Oil, Gas & Geothermal Resources.  Mr. Rich Baker, to my immediate right, is the district deputy for District 1.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  The audience cannot hear you.


MR. MARSHALL:  Again, Jason Marshall with the Department of Conservation.  To my right is Rich Baker, the district deputy of District 1 of the Division of Oil, Gas & Geothermal Resources.


Our testimony today is really about what the Division of Oil and Gas does in the oilfields.  The division is the principal regulatory authority for the drilling of oil and gas wells and the operations of those wells and then the plugging and abandonment of them.  We work very closely with partners such as the AQMD, such as the DTSC, such as the regional water boards, in regulating the oil industry.  Division engineers and technicians witness all oil well activities in the state and are required by the Public Resources Code and the California Code of Regulations to do so.  We do rely heavily on our partners, and, as I said, we do work closely with them.


For the sake of brevity and at the request of Senator Ortiz, we do have our testimony in written form, and we can leave that with the committee.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  We shall accept that into the record, so please summarize your written testimony.


MR. MARSHALL:  Absolutely, Madam Chair.


The testimony discusses the history of the Beverly Hills oilfield, the history of some of the enforcement activities that have gone on by the division under the Drill Site Safety Testing Program which was implemented in 1984, and very specifically with regard to this site.  And if you’d like, I can have Mr. Baker go through some of those actions.


Really, we could leave it at that for the sake of brevity.  I would note that most of the division’s activities are related to, what we would call, the downhole production of oil and gas.  Much of what the testimony today that you have heard and the questions that have been asked relating to things such as air emissions are things that we work in partnership but we largely defer to the AQMD on. 


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  But, so that we can put your testimony in context, it is true that the role of your division is as primary regulator of the Venoco facilities at the high school.  Is that correct?


MR. MARSHALL:  Among others, yes.  There’s 8,000 other wells in this district alone, but yes, that is correct.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  Mr. Marshall, is that your testimony?


MR. MARSHALL:  Yes.  And we can provide that in writing.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you.


Mr. Baker, do you have testimony?


MR. RICHARD BAKER:  No.  Mr. Marshall’s covered everything.


SENATOR KUEHL:  But we don’t have the written testimony in front of us, right?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  No, we do not.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, maybe your offer to have Mr. Baker summarize briefly what the division did about this particular situation would be of interest to us.


MR. MARSHALL:  Absolutely, Madam Chair.


The discussion is, really, the Drill Site Safety Testing Program initiated in 1984, and our testimony today is prepared to go from the most recent inspections back to about 1998.  And if you would like more of that information, we can provide it back through to the inception of the program.


Rich, please?


MR. BAKER:  In February 1984, the division commenced its Drill Site Safety Testing Program in conjunction with the Beverly Hills Oil Company.  This testing program is designed to regulate/check the various drill site safety systems.  The first regular drill site safety inspection by the division took place on     January 25, 1984.  These tests have been conducted, at a minimum, annually, with the exception of 2003 when the drill site was shut down.


No major deficiencies or violations have ever been found or reported at these wells.  In all the following instances, the division inspectors found a few minor deficiencies, mostly malfunctioning gas detectors and high/low sensors for various pieces of equipment, and the operator was normally given thirty days to repair any deficiencies.  The division has no record showing that they did not comply.  Usually, the problem was fixed within a few days; often immediately.


Specific examples of testing conducted at these sites includes a recent inspection on February 13, 2004; found no deficiencies.  On October 29, 2002,     three deficiencies where rig production pit gas detectors were found, and these were repaired on November 15, 2002.  In 2001, a well sign had to be secured, which was not a safety deficiency, and a light bulb had to be replaced.  In 2000, two alarms had to be repaired, well signs had to be secured, and a well cellar needed to be cleaned.  In 1999, five surface safety values—a low-level safety—and a dirty cellar were repaired on the day following the inspection.  No deficiencies were detected in 1998.


The division works closely with local air and water quality regulators to ensure that production occurs safely.  As noted, though, the division inspections are conducted annually.  
Other air and water quality regulators may conduct more frequent inspections, and if they discover violations and notify us, the division works closely with those entities to ensure that the wells comply with the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.


Thank you.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  Any questions from the members?


Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


One of our local newspapers reported that the Division of Oil, Gas & Geothermal Resources. . . . in looking at this new rule that was referenced, it was suggested in the press account that the division is opposed to attempts to strengthen air quality regulations as they apply specifically to oil and gas facilities.


Could you describe how we might have come to this conclusion?


MR. MARSHALL:  That was an unfortunate conclusion that the author of that article reached.  It is not true.  The division’s concerns, as we had expressed them to the AQMD and as we expressed in a letter to the editor dated March 3rd, the division’s concerns were to ensure that the regulation was based on accurate data.  We believed that some of the data that was being used made some assumptions.  For instance, the data assumed that all wells have cellars.  It also assumed that all of the cellars are full of oil at all times.  Yet, it is not the case that all wells have cellars.  Most do but not all.  Further, it is certainly not the case that those with cellars have oil in them all the time.  Oftentimes those cellars are quite clean and quite dry.  We wish that the write-up of the analysis that had gone into that had included that.  


And our comments also in the letter to the editor responded to the allegation that somehow the division was attempting to thwart the processing of that regulation by virtue of asking for time to review and comment on it.  We didn’t think that requesting as a responsible agency under CEQA and certainly as an agency that has a role in regulation of oil and gas here in this basin as well as throughout the state, that asking for the amount of time that the public or the government agencies are to be accorded under the law to comment upon any regulations, that asking for that was an effort to thwart the regulation.  We did not oppose the regulation.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And did you comment on the regulation?


MR. MARSHALL:  Yes, Mr. Baker did comment on the regulation.  And as was noted earlier, the regulation was passed last week.  And again, the department is not at all opposed to the regulation.


SENATOR KUEHL:  You testified that there was good cooperation with the Air Quality Management District.  It’s just interesting to me that Venoco has received awards from the division for outstanding maintenance.  In talking about the violations discovered or tested for by the Air Quality Management District, they noted, perhaps as a side note, that the equipment was not in good operating condition.  So, those two things didn’t seem to go together with them saying it wasn’t in good operating condition but receiving awards for outstanding maintenance.


MR. MARSHALL:  The awards the division gives—the oil and gas lease awards—they are given for maintaining the operations of a facility in a way that is in compliance with the regulations and also for responding promptly when the division inspectors, be they engineers, whatever, come to a site and identify a deficiency and that that deficiency is corrected.  The examples that we gave, in most cases—I believe the longest period of time was in 2002:  approximately a fifteen-, sixteen-day period to rectify some pit detectors—gas detectors in pits.  In those years when this operator was given an award, they were among the top operators in this basin.  Of the approximately 8,000 operating wells, they were one of the top twenty-or-so operations.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


Senator Aanestad, do you have any questions?  All right.


Oh, Madam Chair, you’re back.  Sorry.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, no.  Please continue.  I’m trying to wrap up.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  Well, the question that I have is because I’m a bit confused.  In one of the presentations, there seemed to be an assessment done by Venoco as to how they felt, whether there were any dangers or no dangers in this facility.  If I remember correctly, I think it was dated some time in 1984.


Now, you indicated that you sent inspectors to Venoco.  Can you just tell me what the timeline of that is?  And second of all, did you react in some way to this self-assessment on the part of Venoco, and did that trigger any kind of action on your part?  Especially since Venoco has somehow indicated there was a potential for some type of risk.


MR. MARSHALL:  Are you referring to the testimony that spoke of a 1984 assessment by Venoco, or was it more recently?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Yes, I remember seeing it.  It was a 1984 document.  It had, like, “Xs”; yes, no, maybe.


MR. MARSHALL:  I would defer to Rich as to whether or not he has readily available the recollection of what we’d done in 1984.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Oh, you were not in the department at that time?


MR. MARSHALL:  I was not.  I believe you were in District 1, Rich.


MR. BAKER:  Correct.  I’ve been there pretty much forever.  


I believe what you’re referring to is maybe a document out of their original environmental report.  I’ve never seen that doc, but I’m assuming that’s what it is.  That would be the environmental. . . . you know, the lead agency would be involved in reviewing that EIR and approving it and then thus approving whether or not the drill site could take place.  I think that’s the document you’re talking about.  We would have made our comments related to the EIR, whatever they were.  We could find those for you.  They’re probably in storage by now, since it’s so long ago.  But I think that’s what the document was referring to.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Right.  Do you think that it’s proper for facilities that are being investigated to provide their own self-assessment as to the risk in their own facility?  Do you think that’s proper?  Is that okay?


MR. MARSHALL:  I would defer that to an agency that would be conducting an investigation or an inspection of them.  What was the characterization?  A criminal or a civil investigation?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  No.  I mean, you know, just a facility self-certifying that there is danger or there is no danger, the fact that they self-certify this, to me might be a classic case of the fox guarding the henhouse.  Do you think that that’s proper?


MR. MARSHALL:  From the department’s point of view and what we would require is an actual inspection of the site; that we would have an engineer.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So, if you were to get that document, you would not just solely rubberstamp it.  You would send out your independent inspectors.  Correct?


MR. MARSHALL:  We would want to see on site what is actually happening, and that would be the case whether we were talking about an oil and gas rig, a division of recycling or recycler here, or a mine operator someplace else in the state.  It’s a matter of department policy.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.


Any questions from the members?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Escutia?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Madam Chair—yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I apologize, but I have a flight to catch, and the sergeant’s suggested I need to leave right away—for those of us who don’t live in Los Angeles.


Let me thank everybody.  I’m going to ask my staff, when Senator Escutia believes it to be appropriate, to read my closing comments and my recommendations.  I apologize that I have to leave, but that’s what happens when we explore these issues fully.


I thank all of the speakers for all of the testimony, and I look forward to working with the AQMD and the district attorney’s office and all parties to facilitate some legislative resolutions.


And thank you, members, for being so good about exploring this issue, particularly those of you who actually represent the area.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Madam Chairwoman.


All right.  Any additional questions of these witnesses?  Hearing none, thank you so much.


Now, I understand the city of Beverly Hills has patiently been waiting to testify.  I know they were Item III on the agenda.  If I can please ask their representative to please step forward.


Thank you so much, Larry, for allowing us to skip around the agenda.  I know it’s a Friday, late afternoon, and people want to get home, and they want to avoid that traffic.


MR. LARRY WEINER:  I’ll take that as a hint.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Well, since you and I at one time practiced in the same law firm, as a professional courtesy and the fact that we do have a friendship, you can take as much time as you want.


Mr. Weiner.


MR. WEINER:  I’m sure if I take too much time, it will strain our friendship.  So, I will try and keep it as brief as I can.


I appreciate the opportunity, Senator Escutia, other members of the commission, Mr. Greenstein—another graduate of Beverly Hills High School.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Identify yourself for the record.


MR. WEINER:  I’m sorry.  Larry Weiner.  I am the city attorney for the city of Beverly Hills, and I am here today speaking on behalf of the city and the Beverly Hills Unified School District.


I think that there is no one more interested in this issue as it applies to Beverly Hills than the city council of the city of Beverly Hills and the board of the school district.  It’s interesting—we started the hearing this afternoon with testimony from parents, and we are really ending the hearing with testimony from parents.  As Vice Mayor Egerman indicated, he was a graduate, as was his wife, of the high school.  His children went to the high school.  The mayor’s daughter is currently a senior at the high school.  Other council members have graduated from the high school.  I am a graduate of the high school.  The superintendent’s son is a sophomore at the high school.  The board members’ children are all at the high school or at the junior high level and will be at the high school.


When we heard about this issue, the first night of sweeps week on CBS, we were shocked, first of all, and we were immediately concerned if there might be a problem at Beverly Hills High School.  And we didn’t assume there was or there wasn’t.  We knew that once this issue had been raised, that it was going to be our job as the governing boards of those two agencies to do our due diligence and ensure the community that there had been adequate testing done at the high school; that these allegations were investigated and that there was an answer one way or another.


And I will say, I give credit to the AQMD.  The AQMD was at the site immediately, as their slide indicated earlier, and throughout the spring and testing throughout the spring and providing memos to the community—which were posted on the school district’s website for the community to read—throughout the spring as testing was done.  And I think that brought some measure of interim relief to the community because there was a great deal of consternation when these allegations first surfaced.


Still, as I said, we knew that we needed to satisfy ourselves and the community as to what the conditions were at the high school.  And so, what the city and the school district decided to do working together was to first search for an environmental testing firm that could provide us with the information that we needed.  We did an extensive search.  We did it as quickly as we could.  And we found an outfit—Camp Dresser & McKee (CDM), which is a national firm, nationally recognized; works in Southern California with school districts; works under the supervision of the DTSC on various school sites—and we told them that We need you to do an investigation that’s going to give us the information we need as parents and tell us whether or not that school site is safe and we can continue to send our students there or whether we need to do something to make it safe.


And so, CDM basically told us, We need three things from you.  We need to do air sampling; we need to do soil sampling; and we need to do soil gas sampling.  We basically, at that point, as Vice Mayor Egerman said, wrote them a blank check.  We said, Okay, you design the testing protocols to tell us what we need to know, and by the way, we need to know that before school starts in the fall because we are not going to send students back to that school site unless we have the report that tells us either that it’s safe or that it’s not safe and here’s what you need to do to make it safe or to keep the kids off those fields.


By August, over 200 samples of air and soil and soil gas had been taken, and I would say we were extremely relieved that the results of those came back consistent with the AQMD tests and that there were no results that indicated there were any conditions that were abnormal at the high school.  That said, we know that can’t be the end of it.  In fact, again we tested in December of 2003, and again the report came back consistent with the previous tests.  And we will be testing again in 2004 periodically to make sure that the results stay consistent.


I noticed in the previous testimony that there didn’t seem to be any questioning of the results of that report.  There was a comment that it didn’t have agency standing.  That’s correct.  We did not go to some other agency to have that agency test.  We supervised that testing.  We told them, We need the truth, we need the answers, and we believe that’s what we got.


All of this information as we received it was posted on the city’s website as it was received.  It is available.  The reports are available to anyone.  I have boxes in my office, and if I stack them up from the floor, they’d probably be about three or four feet—all the appendices of information that we have received—and they are available to anyone.  I know Jody Kleinman has been in my office on a number of occasions and has picked up all of that material.  They are available to anyone else.  There is not one piece of data, not one report, that we have not made public and that is not available either by going to the website to see the executive summaries—and just to give you a sense, these are the executive summaries—or by coming to our office and asking for all of the technical backup.


We also held small group meetings with parents.  Those were open to any parent who wanted to come.  We did them twenty to thirty parents at a time.  The reason we chose to do that was because we wanted the opportunity for parents to be able to interact with the consultants who had done the testing, to ask questions, to have questions answered.  We felt that a larger meeting in a larger room such as this wasn’t particularly conducive to the back and forth that parents would want to engage in.  And so, we would hold each time we had test results a series of parent meetings—again, in small group meetings—and we held them at city hall.  City officials were present, school district officials were present, and representatives from Camp Dresser & McKee, who had done the testing, were present.


At the same time that we were conducting our own tests, we also initiated our own local legislative proceeding.  We had requested information from the Masry & Vititoe firm.  We had requested that they provide us with any testing data they had and any epidemiological data that they had which would have supported the claims of excess numbers of cancer.  We were not provided that information.  At one time we received a letter that said, If you provide us your data, we’ll provide you our data.  We sent our data, but we still never received the data from that law firm.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Was your data redacted?


MR. WEINER:  Our data was not redacted.  All of our data, as I said, is available to anyone who asks for it, and the summaries are posted on the website.


Eventually, we issued legislative subpoenas for the information from the Masry & Vititoe firm.  The firm refused to comply with those subpoenas.  We also subpoenaed any testing information from the firm of Baron & Budd.  That is the Texas law firm that is actually taking the lead on litigating the lawsuit that we’re not talking about today.  We requested that they also provide us any testing information that they had.  Again, we did not receive a response to our subpoenas.  We had to go to court to enforce those subpoenas, and eventually, under a threat of contempt of court from Judge Baker of Los Angeles County Superior Court, we did receive the data.  Well, we received some testing data.  We received no epidemiological data because what was told to us in court is that no epidemiological study had been conducted.  And so, that was again reaffirmed in a letter just last week:  that there was no epidemiological study conducted that would show that there’s an excess number of cancers among Beverly Hills alumni.


That said, we did see testing results.  We had eight days of test results that were provided to us.  On six of those days, all of the air tests indicated that levels were at background nondetect for the chemical of most concern—benzene—or at background around one part per million.  There were two days where there was some higher reading.  On a Saturday in November of 2002, there were tests which showed no elevated readings.  On a Sunday in November of 2002, there was a spike of benzene in the readings that I think we saw earlier on the AQMD sheet.  It showed it was about half of what the chronic reference exposure limit was, but it was certainly above what one would expect in the background.  


That day, there was a spike of benzene but none of the spike of toluene or ethylbenzene or xylene that one would expect if you were actually seeing emissions from an oil well.  And so, we turned that data over to CDM, who we had hired to investigate the issue, and they said, Well, there is a spike of benzene there in the data, but that wouldn’t have been coming from oil emissions because if it were coming from oil emissions, you would have seen a concurrent spike in toluene and ethylbenzene and xylene and other chemicals associated with oil and natural gas.


So, we asked, Well, what would you do if you saw this?  What should we do since we are seeing this? and they said, Well, what you should do is more testing if you saw an anomalous result like that.  In fact, as we looked at the data, Masry & Vititoe went out and did more testing in December and saw nothing unusual in the December tests, the Saturday and Sunday in December.  


Then, again in January, the test data showed results on Saturday and Sunday of a weekend in January; again, nothing unusual on one day.  On the second day, there were two samples taken at the high school.  One was an eight-hour sample—and I think the canister was up here during the AQMD presentation of the type of canister it was.  The other was a grab sample, which is, you open the canister for a short period of time and then close it and you get a snapshot of the air.  The eight-hour sample showed, again, a nondetect or background level for benzene—the principal chemical of concern, as we understand it.  The grab sample showed the highest reading that was received, which was the 17 parts per billion, which is, again, above background, just slightly under the chronic reference exposure limit.


Again, we asked CDM, What do you make of this?  CDM told us that it is highly anomalous that you would have co-located samples—two samples located in the same place—one showing nondetect; one showing such a high reading compared to background.  And so, we said, Well, what would you do?  


You do more testing.

And frankly, that’s what we did.  We had been doing that additional testing all throughout 2003.  So, after reviewing all of the data, we believe that the testing as a whole shows us that the conditions at the high school are not unusual.  And frankly, nothing that I have heard here today has convinced me otherwise.  In fact, during some of the events that were discussed in the emails and the AQMD violations, at the same time the AQMD was taking readings of the ambient air on the campus and showing no impact to the campus air from what was going on at the oil well site.


So, we are fairly confident that we have seen some of the worst-case conditions during which we were sampling air and not seeing an impact on the campus and, frankly, doing an extensive amount of testing throughout the last year and still not seeing an impact on the campus.


Also during this time there was one independent agency who did do a review of epidemiological data, and that was the Cancer Surveillance Program at the University of Southern California, Keck School of Medicine.  That program is part of the state’s cancer registry, and that program took a look at data that involved residents in Beverly Hills.  Not alumni of the high school but residents of the city of Beverly Hills.  That looked at residents of the city of Beverly Hills and found no cancers beyond what one would expect for this demographic.  No elevated rates of cancer among those cancers that were being identified at the time in the media as being of concern—Hodgkin’s lymphoma and non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma and thyroid cancer—in the population of Beverly Hills.  And I think we felt from the city perspective that, certainly, if there were a problem coming from that oil well, we would think that we would see it in the residential population as well as the alumni population.  But that is the only scientific evaluation of epidemiological data that has been done.


The last thirteen months have been a difficult time for the city and the school district because there has been a lot of consternation as a result of allegations about test results that no one seems to be able to duplicate and I think as a result of misinformation.  I mean, we heard about a checklist, an environmental checklist, in 1984 that seemed to leave open questions that weren’t followed up on.  I have that checklist.  This is that checklist.  If you look at the back of that checklist, you’ll see that it’s not that there was nothing followed up on.  “Maybe” is checked.  And at the back where it says “All Responses” on the checklist, you refer to the 1978 EIR.  It’s not that it was ignored.  This is the 1978 EIR.  Now, it was referenced that this 1978 EIR spoke of nothing but noise and odors.  Well, I won’t try and read the 1978 EIR because it is late, but I can assure you that if you go through this document—and it’s not a thin document—there is far more than noise and odors discussed.


So, in addition to doing the due diligence now—and a lot of due diligence has been done.  We have spent over half a million dollars on testing by Camp Dresser & McKee alone.  That does not count the indoor air quality testing that was done by the school district.  That does not count the testing that was done by AQMD.  There was concern at the time that was addressed by an Environmental Impact Report.  I will tell you, I have been through this.  It does not indicate to city officials or school district officials that there should be a concern about emissions from the oil well.  Maybe there should have been.  Maybe there should have been more done.  But I will say it certainly was not ignored.  


But that kind of misinformation is the kind of thing that has caused consternation in our community over the past year, and what we have done at the local level—and I am here to address what has been the local response to the allegations—is we have done what we teach the students to do, and that is, do the research and let your actions be guided by the research, and that’s what we have done.  We will continue to do that monitoring, and we will continue to do that research, and we will continue to rely on the AQMD and any other agency that wishes to do research and take a look at Beverly Hills High School.


So, I have tried to make my presentation more brief than it would have otherwise been due to the late hour, but I very much appreciate the opportunity to address the committee to let the committee know what we have been doing at the local level; to assure the committee that there is no one more concerned about this than the parents of students, and the parents of students are those people who are sitting on the city council and those people who are sitting on the school board as well as other members of the community.


I thank you for your time, and I’d be happy to answer questions.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Mr. Weiner.


Senator Kuehl, do you have questions?


SENATOR KUEHL:  I’m trying to put together some of the stuff that I’ve heard from other agencies that testified before you.  Did the city or the school district, or both, have any discussions with DTSC?


MR. WEINER:  We did.  We did.  You know, when this first became public, when we first learned about this through the news media, it was all about air emissions.  The AQMD immediately was out at the site, and we were working with the AQMD.  And I believe that there was a letter early on from the DTSC offering their services if we cared to use them.  At that time, we were working with the AQMD, and I don’t think we took advantage of that.  We didn’t follow up on it.


A couple of months later, I think around May, because there was some desire to have the DTSC come in—we heard it from parents and members of the community, and we thought, okay, let’s talk to the DTSC—we did engage in discussions with the DTSC at that time about having them come onto the site and join us in this testing.  We offered to split samples with them.  We offered to have them review our data.  Our data is available to them if they’d like to see it now.


At that point—I think Mr. Lowry testified that their process was three to six months.  They were very forthcoming; they were very willing to help; and they promised at that point that they would do everything they could to meet our timetable.  And by the way, our timetable was what we had committed to parents—I think I mentioned this earlier—that we would have that testing done before school started in the fall of 2003, and it was at this point, when we were doing those discussions with them sometime around May, they said they would do their best to meet that timetable.  But we felt that our best chance of meeting that timetable was to not stop and switch horses and start with the DTSC program but instead to continue on the path that we had already begun to go down with CDM.  And therefore, that is what we did.  We continued on that path with CDM; and frankly, we finished about a week-and-a-half before school started when that report finally came out.


So, I have no criticism of the DTSC at all.  The DTSC was more than willing to come in and help us and do whatever needed to be done, but that was a decision we made around May.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, what’s the ongoing monitoring like?


MR. WEINER:  Well, one thing that was found—by the way, we found nothing abnormal in terms of toxic substances.  We did find a pocket of methane—I think that was mentioned earlier this afternoon as well—about 15 feet below ground surface.  It was not at 5 feet, and it was not at surface level, but it was at 15 feet below ground surface in the upper field near some asphalt basketball courts.  That was delineated with step-out testing.  There was testing that found it, and then we stepped out until we didn’t find it anymore.  So, we knew what the source was.  And what was recommended with regard to the methane was that we install methane sensors in the bathrooms that are adjacent to that field, which has been done, and that we regularly monitor the basement areas of the building surrounding the field, or nearest to the field—there really aren’t buildings all the way surrounding the field—which is being done.  The concern as we understand it about methane is that it can create an explosive risk if it builds up in a confined space, not if it comes up through a field.  And so, we are monitoring those confined spaces.  That was the recommendation, and we are doing that.


Although it’s not particularly the recommendation from CDM, we know that we are going to have to continue to do monitoring over time.  This is not an issue that is going to simply go away, nor would we think in good conscious that it should go away.  And so, again, the last time that CDM was out there was December.  We will have them out again in the spring, and we will continue to have them out periodically to continue to monitor the ambient air at the campus.  As the AQMD mentioned, there is a fence-line monitor being installed as part of the settlement—the civil penalty that was imposed on Venoco—and that will be in place as well.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


Mr. Weiner, what’s the standards in terms of the risk assessment of that equation of parts per million?  What is the standard being used by CDM?


MR. WEINER:  I’m not sure if I fully understand the question.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  What I’m trying to get at here is that, you know, figures always lie and liars always figure, and I just want to make sure that we are comparing apples to apples and oranges to oranges.  In this business of determining risk, the parts per million can vary as to, say, one part per million is considered a risk versus, say, somebody might say, No, 20 parts per million is considered risk.  I just want to make sure that what CDM uses, which is your group that you have hired to give you independent information on this,  I just want to make sure that it is, hopefully, the highest standard possible to protect the residents of Beverly Hills and the students of Beverly Hills High School.


MR. WEINER:  Because of the late hour I wasn’t going to show you this, but I’ll bring it out now.  


We didn’t approach this from, Gee, there’s some acceptable risk for our children.  We said, The first question we want to know is, is there any different condition on that high school from the background area in Los Angeles and maybe being caused by this oil well?  We didn’t approach this as, Gee, here’s an acceptable risk, and we’re willing to put our children through that.  


I’ve got a chart coming, I think.  


So, what we asked CDM to do first, we said, Never mind risk.  Tell us whether there’s any difference between the air at Beverly Hills High School and the background air in Los Angeles.  I didn’t blow up every chart that was done, but I did it for benzene because that’s the chemical of greatest concern, as we understand it.  And this is the chart here, and you can see this down here, the shaded area, is what’s the normal range for benzene that you would find in background air in Los Angeles County.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  And so, that would be, according to the guidelines on the left-hand side, would be about, what, 3½ or 4 parts per billion?


MR. WEINER:  Yes.  It goes from anywhere from about, I don’t know, less than one part per billion to about 4 parts per billion.  Slightly less than 4 parts per billion.  And the chronic reference exposure level—the non-cancer-hazard level that was referenced earlier—is up here, depending on what standard is used—18 to 20 parts per billion.  I’ve got it marked here as 18 on this chart.  And that’s up here.


You can see all of the measurements that were taken by the AQMD and by CDM, whether it’s on the Venoco site or on the campus site or at the background locations at the park site nearby.  They’re all down here in the lower part of the shaded area, all below two certainly, all down around. . . . frankly, all down around one, with this one exception right over here that goes above one and gets closer to two.


So, what we said to CDM was, You tell us whether there’s any difference in the air at Beverly Hills High School or not.  Not, Don’t tell us about what’s an acceptable risk or not for the students, and this is what we found.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  That was with regard to the air.  Is that what you indicated?


MR. WEINER:  That is with regard to the air.  That’s correct.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  What about with regard to the soil?


MR. WEINER:  Well, the soil and the soil gas, they told us, You can’t really do this.  You do have to do a risk calculation, and the risk calculations were that it was—let’s see if I can remember.  I mean, it was certainly far less than one in a million, and I’m trying to remember that number.  I think it was down around .3 in a million, but I would have to check that again.  But the risk that they came up with was less than one in a million from all of the potential contaminants in the soil.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.


Now, with regard to, I think, this contractual arrangement that the city of Beverly Hills has with the oil company, the oil producer—I mean, you get a certain percentage of royalties?


MR. WEINER:  I’m glad you asked about that because there’s been an implication that somehow we would be influenced by royalty payments or money.


First of all, as a parent of a child who will someday attend that high school, I find it hard to believe that someone would seriously believe that people whose children are in the high school now and people whose children will be attending the high school would have money influence this decision.  But be that as it may, I know that there are people who do believe that.  


But let me tell you this.  We have gotten in the last few years—which is probably when we’ve gotten the most money from the oil wells as a result of rising oil prices, et cetera—the city and the school district have received between 200 and 300 thousand a year.  The city’s annual budget is $258 million.  Two hundred fifty thousand out of a $258 million budget—this is not a number that is a significant revenue source to the city of Beverly Hills.  I mean, I don’t think I can describe adequately. . . . I can describe that we have spent far more on testing than we do achieve in revenues, and we will continue to spend a lot of money on testing.  I won’t even tell you how much more in defense of litigation that we’ve had to spend compared to the revenue from that oil well.  The revenue from that oil well is not influencing the actions of the city or the school board in this matter.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  Any additional questions?  Thank you very much, Mr. Weiner.


MR. WEINER:  Thank you.  Thank you for your time.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  We now have reached the point of the agenda in which we will take public comment.  I do have here a list of people who wish to testify:  Mahshid Soleimani, followed by Janet Moris, Ari Bussel, Marrina Waks, Thomas White, Ruth Sarnoff, and Patricia McPherson.


Now, it says here that Thomas White would like to go first.  I’m sorry, is Mr. White here?


MR. THOMAS WHITE:  He is here.  I don’t mind waiting.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.


Identify yourself for the record please.


MS. MAHSHID SOLEIMANI:  Mahshid Soleimani, a parent.


Was AQMD’s investigation performed with total accuracy and integrity?  Time after time you will find inconsistency in their lab results and reports.  On February 6, 2003, AQMD paid a surprise visit to Venoco’s oil wells facility on Beverly Hills High School campus.  AQMD found that Venoco was venting their unwanted gas into the air illegally.  Samples were taken from the well gas directly at the vent pipe, and they were collected from ambient air around the high school.  An executive office memorandum dated February 11, 2003, signed by AQMD’s executive officer, Dr. Barry Wallerstein, reports that its likely elevated acetone level was found in the evening sample but not the well gas and continues to indicate that such chemical species is not generally associated with oil well operation.


But the draft report of the windpipe gas says a different story.  The regional draft report stated that acetone was detected at less than 500 ppb in the gas collected directly from the windpipe.  If acetone is not associated with the oil and gas operation, how would you explain the detection of about 500 ppb of acetone in the gas samples taken directly from the windpipe?  The results from the regional draft analysis was changed later on, and acetone’s presence was changed to “not detected.”  And I do have attachments.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Right.  I understand that you’ve already submitted a written statement, so if you can just summarize your written statement.


MS. SOLEIMANI:  I’m sorry?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  I understand that you’ve already submitted a written statement.


MS. SOLEIMANI:  Yes.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So, I was wondering if you would like to summarize.


MS. SOLEIMANI:  I really tried.  I don’t know if I can.  It’s about two or three more minutes.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Okay.


MS. SOLEIMANI:  Acetone is detected, yet once again, this time, in extremely high levels at 200 ppb in the ambient air samples taken on the third week of April.  Inspectors from AQMD are sent to investigate.  A report prepared on May 28, 2003, by AQMD’s Inspector Jeanette Holtzman, indicates that Venoco claims that the facility has no acetone on the site to date nor in the past.  So, one, Venoco would be eliminated as the possible source, and the final conclusion on the source of the acetone would be made by Mr. Ben Shaw, the senior lab manager at AQMD, that (quote) “a storage paint shed at the high school is the most likely source of the acetone.”


My question to Dr. Wallerstein and Mr. Shaw would be:  If Venoco has never used acetone on their site and if acetone is not part of the natural gas pumped from the ground, then how would you explain the presence of 3200 ppb of acetone in the waste water sample taken from the reinjection tank by Inspector Holtzman on April 8 of 2003?  


Waste water is the water that comes up mixed with oil and natural gas and has no outside contact and certainly no connection to the paint shed at the high school grounds.


On Friday, February 21, 2004 (three weeks ago), I had a telephone conversation with Mr. Shaw.  He denied that any acetone was ever detected in AQMD’s test results, and my request for a meeting with him to share my findings was denied.  I was also told by him, Do not call the inspectors.  They are instructed not to speak to you.

How likely is acetone to cause cancer?  The Department of Health and Human Services and EPA have not classified acetone as carcinogenic.  However, it is unknown if breathing or swallowing acetone for long periods will cause cancer.  American Association for Cancer Research has published a study in Cancer Research, Volume 48, Issue 19, from the Department of Physiological Chemistry at the Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden, and this study reports that ethanol or acetone is known to exert a synergetic effect on the toxicity of benzene.  In the present investigation, it is found that benzene was metabolized at the rate of 20- to 65-fold higher in the liver microsomes from ethanol- or acetone-treated rats than in microsomes from controlled animals.  In simple words, presence of acetone can make the carcinogenic effect of benzene 20 to 65 times higher.


I believe that such inconsistencies in AQMD’s data and reports raises serious questions about the safety of our kids at Beverly Hills High School and whether, given the sensitivity of this site, should there be an oil and gas operation at all.


May I mention something?  For the past three or four days, I have put in at least four or five times. . . . I have put, at least, forward five telephone calls to Dr. Wallerstein’s office for something that I needed to actually prepare this report, and I haven’t been able to get it.  I have spoken to ________; I have spoken to Linda Mills; I have spoken to Marcus Peterson.  That report was denied to me.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you.


Next speaker is Mr. Thomas White.


MR. WHITE:  Good afternoon, Madam Chairman and members of the committee.  


I’m Thomas White, chairman of the Municipal League of Beverly Hills—a resident association organized in 1962 for good government and for residential quality of life.  My son is a student at Beverly Hills High School.  My daughter will be a student in a couple of years.  She’s in the Beverly Hills school system as well.


I’d like to point out a couple of things from a residential standpoint that I think the committee may not be aware of, or at least might not have put some facts together, to explain some of the disparities or points of view between some of the information.  One is that the school district and the city of Beverly Hills, being, both, defendants in the current lawsuit, face the possibility of being held liable for billions of dollars in damages.  I’m sure anyone in that position believing that their best interests primarily—or at least in the first instance is to protect taxpayers from that type of liability, they’re going to be very reluctant to make admissions, publicly or privately, that would have an impact on the trier of fact and on the lawsuit.  


The information that the city and the school district has indicated in the newspaper seems to suggest—and it is rather common knowledge within the parent market in Beverly Hills—that the bankruptcy could result in the school district from the liability from these lawsuits. 


So, if there’s a question as to the accuracy or the veracity of the information, I believe the committee, who I’m very grateful has conducted this hearing today because there are great concerns within the residential community about the public safety hazards associated with the claims that have been made, and we believe that the citizens of Beverly Hills are entitled not just to the best efforts but to actual certainty as to whether or not hazards actually do exist.  And as long as the conflict of interest exists between the city of Beverly Hills and the school district, notwithstanding the good-faith efforts we believe of our elected officials, it does create a conflict which we believe is irreconcilable insofar as administrative fact-finding is concerned.


I’ve heard no compelling evidence today to suggest that there is any reason why the oil drilling or any operations on the campus of Beverly Hills High School should be permitted to continue for as long as a trier of fact is considering and has not yet reached a determination as to whether or not there either is or is not a health and safety hazard at Beverly Hills High School.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Mr. White.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I have a question to Mr. White.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Yes.  Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Is there a contract between the city or the school district and the oil company?


MR. WHITE:  Yes.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, if they were to cease operations, would they be liable under the contract?


MR. WHITE:  Yes.  That’s one of the concerns, and we have asked politely if that would be considered, and the response has been, Well, we might be in breach of contract.  If you ask the same elected officials whether or not they would prefer not to have oil operations on the campus, they would say, In theory, yes.  But now that we’re receiving income from it—which I would tend to go along with the city attorney that that, in itself, is probably not a significant factor—but over a long period of time, it can be a material factor.  A much greater factor in the minds of decision-makers and even in the minds of parents whose children are in the schools is, What will happen if it turns out they’re right?  Will we have a school district—


SENATOR KUEHL:  No, you don’t need to lecture me about the question about whether we’re all concerned about the children’s health.


MR. WHITE:  I don’t mean to lecture you at all.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I’m sorry, I shouldn’t have used that word.  You don’t need to make me more aware.  


But the issue of the cost to the taxpayers, I was trying to follow where you were going with that in terms of the liability or potential liability for health issues.  I mean, if you’re going to just talk about a loss of money and what might happen, there is also the potential for damages because it’s not just what the school district makes, it’s what the oil company makes that happens with breach of contract.


MR. WHITE:  Yes.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, I don’t think it’s the paramount consideration, but there’s also a monetary concern to the taxpayers on the other side, isn’t there?


MR. WHITE:  Yes, of course, and I would think that the greater imperative is public safety when measured against potential legal liability.  Even if it’s threatening, I don’t think it would be to the bankruptcy level, but that is the information that many parents are being told, and they react accordingly.


One question was raised earlier about, well, if you’re not really concerned enough—or if you are concerned, then you would take your child out of school.  There is only one high school in Beverly Hills.  If you send your child to a private school, you could expect to pay $50,000 a year.  Sixty percent of the residents in Beverly Hills are apartment renters.  They don’t have that kind of money even for one child, let alone two.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you so much.


Our next witness is Janet Moris. 


MS. JANET MORIS:  My name is Janet Moris, and I’m also a parent of two children at Beverly Hills High School, and I’m also an alumni of Beverly Hills High School.  I’m not a plaintiff in any lawsuit nor the prior two speakers that were up here.  I know Senator Ortiz asked that question initially, so just to make that clear.


Right at the outset I wanted to answer, I believe it was Senator Kuehl’s question earlier, about whether or not a school could be situated on a site that had an oil well.  I believe that in the California Code of Regulations, Section 14010(h), it says that a school cannot be situated on that site—on a site that has oil pipelines underneath the school.  So, that’s to answer your question.


Thank you very much for the opportunity to speak.  I am one of the people who thinks that operating a producing oil well at Beverly Hills High School is a threat to the health and safety of the students and the staff at the high school.


I want to say at the outset that but for the lawsuit—the personal injury lawsuit that was filed—I don’t believe that we’d be sitting here discussing this.  I think that the city of Beverly Hills optimistically would have shut this down.  As you know, the $300,000 a year is not significant to the city of Beverly Hills nor to the school district.  So, why would we keep an oil well operating if we think there’s a threat of health or safety if that’s all we get?


As to Thomas White’s suggestion that there might be a breach of contract and a lawsuit by Venoco—yes, but we have a contract that says if there’s a material breach, the city can end the contract.  It’s a breach of the contract.  So, that’s another issue that never came up that I think needs to be looked at.


For too long we have been complacent about the oil well, never really paying attention to what effect it might be having on our children.  When we finally woke up last spring, we became educated about the well and organized, collecting over 2,000 signatures asking the city and school district to shut down the operations and to get a complete and thorough investigation about what substances are present at the site and what quantities and what the health effects are.  At several public meetings we asked the school board to have the Department of Toxic Substances Control do an assessment on the site.  The DTSC is an appropriate public agency to handle this case.  DTSC’s mission statement specifies that “DTSC’s focus is existing hazards in all media:  oversees environmental assessments and cleanup within specific school boundaries.”


The school district refused to invite DTSC to do the job they are mandated to do.  Well, right now we know that DTSC has to be invited to an existing school and only has mandated authority over new schools.  And so, the school district contracted with CDM, a private environmental assessment firm, to do a partial assessment of the school.  They did not follow DTSC’s protocols.


Not only did they miss several areas of possible contamination which had to be pointed out by a contractor’s reviewing the site for a new building, but they took samples not even knowing whether the oil facility was out of production, in partial production, or in full production.  Obviously, this would have an effect on their samples.  They also came to conclusions about that site which we have problems with; for example, saying that the only. . . . to me, personally, in one of those small CDM-city of Beverly Hills-parent meetings, a CDM environmental engineer said that the only possible adverse impact of the oil well was the smell that sometimes emanates from the site.  They gloss over the fact that benzene, heptene, hexalon, acetone, and hexanone were detected in samples, and when they knew that the wells were shut down, those substances were not detected, and the wells, when they were in production, those substances were detected.  So, clearly, it doesn’t take a rocket scientist to understand that the oil production causes carcinogenic compounds to be released into the air and into the waste water.


The AQMD has also been asleep at the wheel.  They did not actively monitor this site until contacted by a KCBS reporter in February 2003.  They then found violations, including the illegal venting of gas, on at least twenty days, worrisome emissions of benzene from an unlicensed amine unit, and equipment leaking unacceptably high levels of volatile organic compounds.  They gave Venoco a minimal fine and did not require a complete Environmental Impact Report to be produced by Venoco in spite of the public input asking for such.  Venoco’s response in requesting a CEQA exemption to the EIR was there was no public controversy.  This is not true.  And then, somebody said earlier that there was no public controversy as to the amine unit.  This is also not true.  There were over one hundred letters sent to the AQMD specifically responding to the licensing of the amine unit and saying specifically that we don’t think that Venoco should be operating, especially without an Environmental Impact Report.


Although the plans now are that the site will be equipped with electronic monitoring devices to detect the release and presence of toxic substances, the oil company Venoco is the one who monitors the controls and must notify AQMD if anything is amiss.  I think we all agree that the fox should not be guarding the henhouse.  


In conclusion, I am thrilled that the California Senate is interested in looking more closely at this issue.  Just because we were asleep at the wheel for the last forty years in allowing an oil well to be present on this site does not justify the fact that it should be allowed by our standards of health and safety today.  I would like to see legislation prohibiting the production of oil and gas on school property because of the inherent threat to students and staff.  I would also like DTSC’s authority to be extended to existing school sites, and the law should be changed to not prohibit criminal prosecutions if there’s civil penalties enforced.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you very much.


Any questions?  Yes, Senator Kuehl?


SENATOR KUEHL:  With my apologies to everyone who’s going to testify after this, I have to go.  I’m going to be majorly late for my 5:30 meeting across town.  This is being recorded, and I promise that I will listen to the testimony that’s given after I leave.


I want to thank, first of all, the committee.  The committee staff did a wonderful job of preparing materials for us.  And I thank, especially, everyone who testified and who will testify and the people from the community who have been so concerned about this issue.  There are aspects of this issue that the State Legislature can deal with; other aspects which will be, probably, resolved by the other branch of government:  the judicial branch.  But you know that we are very concerned at being fair to those entities that are charged with protecting the health and safety of people in California.  We’re concerned with our public entities, and we’re also, of course, primarily concerned with the health and safety of individuals.


I’m very pleased and grateful to the committee for having this hearing.  Many of you have spoken to Laura Plotkin, my chief deputy in the district who’s been sitting here with me today, and you know that she well represents me and my interest in this issue, which will be continuing.


So, my apologies.  You know, you just got to do what you’ve got to do sometimes, but I will listen to the rest of the tape.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


Our next witness:  Ari Bussel.  And if I can Marrina Waks, Ruth Sarnoff, and Patricia McPherson could come up and great ready.


Ari?


MR. ARI BUSSEL:  Good afternoon.  My name is Ari Bussel.  I would like to add a human face to the hearing today.


Our family moved to Beverly Hills in 1982.  I was then a junior at Beverly Hills High School.  A Mr. Agabon[?] was on the school board of education.  My brother, my sister, and I all graduated from Beverly.  Among the three of us, we have advanced degrees from Stanford, Harvard, and UCLA.  We have five different advanced degrees.  My brother is a cancer survivor and my sister.  Both my brother and my sister are part of the litigation.  They went through the whole four years at Beverly.  I only went there two years.


I think that the main difference for anyone who is sitting here and looking in the back is where are the parents?  Where are today’s parents?  Where are the children?  The silence is overwhelming, because if we go back to any one of the first town hall meetings, during which we didn’t have any city official present but they did get reports of it—and there are videos—person after person stood up and said, I’m [so-and-so].  I’m twenty-eight.  I’ve benzene in my blood.  I’m [so-and-so].  I’m twenty-seven.  I have this horrible autoimmune disease.  And it went on and on and on without stop.


Now, there was a question asked time and again:  Has there been any epidemiological study done?  And the answer is “no.”  There was another question asked time and again:  Do we have any scientific studies about the effects of close proximity of oil drilling and gas venting on people at the ages of late teenage?  And the answer again was “no.”


I have not seen, and we requested it time and again, why can’t we send—and there is a group of people who would be very willing just to spend the money and sponsor it—why can’t we have a total population study of every single person who graduated from Beverly Hills High School and let’s find out what are we talking about?  Is it only what the Brockovich firm. . . . the Masry/Brockovich firm representing?  What type of problem do we have on our hand?  Since both of the city and the school board are part of the litigation, obviously, anything that they do can be covered under work product and as much as CDM _______ results.  We need somebody who is impartial.  That can be the PTA, who has not done anything to date.  It can be the Beverly Hills Alumni Association.  And to quote the president of the Alumni Association, Mr. Robert Fox, he said, I don’t want to hear this ever again.  The proposal was put to him in writing to send a letter to do this study.  Let’s find out what are we talking about.  


It is very easy to dismiss claims, but we really don’t know is there causality.  And I think that the main point is—and Senator Aanestad asked—let’s clear the air.  Let’s see what is the real objective.  And I will paraphrase what my brother said:  It should never happen again.  It should not happen to any parent that will have to face him or herself in the mirror, that will have to face his or her daughter or son and say, Why did it happen?  We don’t know the causality.  We don’t know that it’s the oil drilling or the gas venting or Sempra or the close proximity to Olympic Boulevard, which is the major artery.  We simply don’t know, but we need to investigate, and the investigation must be impartial.  Impartial meaning independent.


Everyone who is here—and let’s look in the back and let’s think who was essentially here other than all the lawyers.  Every single agency has something to lose, whether it’s the school board, the city, AQMD that should have enforced it all over the years, and let’s go for one minute, with your permission, back to 1982 to ’84 when I was a student and I appeared before the school board.  SB 813 was passed at that time, and the unified school district found itself suddenly without all the funding that it needed.  Lo and behold, it’s exactly the same time that we have an EIR that was presented.  Mr. Weiner has the actual EIR presented that went back to ’78.  At that time, the 100,000 or half a million dollars per year were a very substantial amount of money to the school district.  It was the time that teachers had to be fired because we suddenly found ourselves—it’s a very affluent community—without the money because the money was channeled via Sacramento equally per population.


In summary, I think that what we should do and I think what the committee is trying to do is to take a proactive approach because we don’t know exactly what is going on.  And if we look just within a mile away from the high school, but not in Beverly Hills, at the corner of Doheny Drive and Pico Boulevard—Pico is parallel to Olympic Boulevard—we have another oil rig that there was a nice building built over it.  So, you cannot really say that there is oil and gas drilling there.  Next to it there is a gas station.  Next to the gas station there is a new religious school, Chabad.  Now, it’s just been finished, but do we want the parents to face themselves in ten, twenty years?  


And I think that there was a very interesting comment earlier by one of the experts saying that cancer has a long latency period.  We need to remember, and unfortunately you don’t have the tools here, but I’m sure that the video can be provided from one of the first town hall meetings so you can see we’re not talking about people in their late thirties, like I am, in their forties, fifties, or sixties.  We’re talking about people in their late twenties, in their early thirties, beautiful people that suddenly have autoimmune disease, that have things which are too horrible even to mention.


Let me just end then.  If you think that. . . . for instance, what my sister has is quite rare or it’s not representative.  When you hear that there is another person that has exactly the unexplainable symptoms that all the top doctors in Beverly Hills could not after numerous tests, could not figure out what they were, and then you have a third person with very similar symptoms again, we don’t want that to happen again.  We don’t know what causes it, but we need to find out, and I’m sure that our elected officials are doing their best to come up with an answer.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you very much, Mr. Bussel.  And thank you for recognizing that it is the desire of this committee to establish a proactive approach.  As you well know, it is not the role of this committee to establish causality.  That is the role of the courts.  They will establish causality with regard to the pending litigation.  But it is very much the role of the State Legislature to perhaps provide an adjustment to the statutory framework if, in fact, that is needed.  And I think that, perhaps, after we get all the information and we have further hearings, such a statutory adjustment might be needed in order to prevent this, first of all, from happening again; second of all, to secure better enforcement, both at the civil and criminal level; obviously to promote better communications with the public; and also to better coordinate among all the agencies that have, perhaps, different jurisdictions.


So, we look forward to try to simplify this matter, but by no means are we here to determine who’s right or who’s wrong.  We’re only here to determine what’s the best thing to do for the children.


Thank you so much.


MR. BUSSEL:  Thank you.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Our next witness:  Marrina Waks.


Do we have Ruth Sarnoff and Patricia McPherson?  If they can start getting up here to get ready to testify.  


I’m going to also ask the witnesses not to repeat what has been stated.  I have been hearing the same thing about benzene and the activities of AQMD or the nonactivities of AQMD.  I’ve been hearing that.  I took down notes.  So, please tell me something new and original and fresh.


Thank you.


MS. MARRINA WAKS:  Hello.  My name is Marrina Waks.


First of all, I would like to thank you for taking the right steps in the right direction after so long.  


Before I say my points, which are very short but very new and were not addressed at all here, I would like to give you just the background.  I am a mother of a Beverly Hills graduate and also a student who just started this year—a freshman.  After health concerns that we had of my daughter, we did health testing on her, and among other health tests that we couldn’t find what’s wrong, we did hair analysis.  We found high uranium levels.  We were totally shocked.  We didn’t understand in the middle of Beverly Hills where do you get uranium.  We started to inquire.  That was in January before this whole thing started, before anybody even heard about this.  In January, we were informed that uranium, one of the origins is oil wells—oil well drilling and oil well maintenance.  Afterwards we all of a sudden heard the CBS report with Erin Brockovich bringing all this issue to life.  I am not saying that uranium is caused by what’s happening in Beverly Hills High School.  What I’m saying is that because what we discovered about the uranium, it made us discover the following that I’m going to talk about.


We are a group of concerned parents.  We’re not part of any lawsuit.  One of the reasons we’re not part of the lawsuit is because we need immediate action and lawsuits can take for years.  We need something done immediately.


Since April 2003, we have been requesting tests and monitoring of the radioactive materials that our being used on a regular basis in the oil wells at the high school.  Since then, we went a few times in front of the school board, the city council, and our requests were ignored.  Radioactive materials such as iodine-131 and __________ are known to increase the risk of cancer.  Iodine-131 is created in a nuclear process.  Radioactive materials that could last for many years are allowed to be used in the water injection wells at the school.  Some of these materials might sit in the pipes or leak.


The pipes are located under the school and under some parts of the city.  We were told constantly—we kept being told—that the amounts of radioactive materials are very small, but we have the proof that it’s not correct.  According to the official Beverly Hills water report—here’s a sample—radioactive materials from oil well production contaminate even our drinking water.  Quote:  “Substances expected to be radioactive in drinking water:  radioactive contaminants which can be naturally occurring or be the result of oil and gas production.”  It says it right here.  The amount is large enough to be detected in a small sample of water.  When they test for water, radioactive materials are detected.  That tells you what amount has to be put in in order to end in a small sample of water diluted by millions of gallons of water.  Isn’t this fact enough to establish independent testing and monitoring of the school?


According to Dr. Wendy Cozen of USC School of Medicine, there was an environmental study. . . . I mean, an epidemiological study was done, and she states in her report—we have the report right here—thyroid cancer that is at very high number among the alumni is linked to radiation and some of the other rare cancers too.  Radioactive materials might cause genetic mutation and damage of the immune system and therefore can cause many types of cancers and other diseases and disorders.  The damage can even skip a generation.  


We became more worried when we heard about the Harvard School of Medicine study.  That study states (quote), “Occupationally related fatalities among workers in the oil and gas extraction processes are higher than deaths for workers from all other U.S. industries combined.”  The workers are required by law to wear radiation monitors.


At the school board meeting in April 2003, we suggested the use of inexpensive radiation monitoring badges which could be placed in various locations at the school.  Radiation monitoring badges might cost as low as $80 or less each.  A single test will not be significant at all because this type of radiation is accumulating.  Our request was ignored.  Radiation is accumulating and causing cancer when it’s in small doses, more than in one-time exposure.  And you can also relate to some statistics and compare them to Chernobyl per million.


In July, the state radiological branch conducted tests that were done in the wrong time.  The tests were conducted when most of the wells were shut off.  They were conducted right after the old pipes were removed and replaced with new ones.  Therefore, radioactive materials could not be detected because they are sitting in pipes and the pipes were replaced.  The tests were done—the tests for iodine-131—more than a year after the fact when the half-life of this radioactive material is eight days.  They knew that there was nothing going to be found, yet they tested.  And then, the public was not informed about the special circumstances of the testing.  The public was not informed that radioactive materials were not expected to be detected at that time.  They said that no additional materials were found, and that was it.  The tests did not indicate the level of safety when the wells are in full operation.


Just to explain also, not only the radioactive materials that are put into the pipes but also in the water rejection wells, the water that’s constantly being injected, it contains naturally occurring radioactive materials that are coming from the earth, including cesium, including americium, including many of them that have thousands of years of half-life, and they keep being circulated under the school, under parts of Beverly Hills, going into the water system and possibly contaminating our drinking water.


We are requesting an independent proper testing and supervision that will indicate the true level of safety for our children.  This is the tip of the iceberg.  We have plenty of documents to support what I’ve said.  This investigation—I was working on it since January, since we found in my daughter’s hair the uranium.  There are thousands of documents.  We’ll be very happy to submit the documents upon request.


And about the loophole, I don’t think would anybody doubt that it should cover also . . . 


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Right.  We understand that.


MS. WAKS:  So, that should not be.  Also, a point which was not covered, I would like to ask if anybody could cover also the possibility of it being as a terrorist target—if it can be somehow covered to protect the children this way.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  First of all, we don’t know whether any legislation will be introduced, much less do we know the contents of that legislation.  So, if that is the conclusion of your testimony, I would greatly appreciate it if you would submit your written comments for the committee’s record.  And we will submit that to the chair.


MS. WAKS:  Right.  So, thank you very much again.  If you have any questions, I’d be happy to tell you.  But we have all the reports here and the documents.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Ms. Waks.


MS. WAKS:  Thank you.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Our next witness is Ruth Sarnoff.  Is that you?  And Patricia McPherson.  I understand that both of you are from the same coalition?


MS. RUTH SARNOFF:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  The Grassroots Coalition.  So, please, don’t repeat yourself.


Are you a Beverly Hills resident?


MS. SARNOFF:  I’m a resident of Santa Monica, California, and I have been involved with a lot of things to do with the Belmont project, and I will speak to it because I think some of the requirements to protect children in schools and the neighboring communities are the same.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  Please go ahead in your testimony, and I’ll tell you right now, we only have ten minutes.


MS. SARNOFF:  Okay.  Because Patricia is the more senior here of us, I will try to keep my remarks extremely short.  I want to put four documents and some photos into the public record.  I will just say what they are and why I’m putting them into the public record.


The first is today’s L.A. Times article about, “Finally, a Chance to Clear the Air at Beverly Hills High.”  It indicates . . . 


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  The committee is aware of that.  We do have it in the record.  Believe it or not, we actually read it before coming here.  It’s in the record. 


Next document?


MS. SARNOFF:  A document from Grassroots Coalition called, “Failure of LAUSD and DTSC to Address Health and Safety Hazards Caused by the Construction of the Belmont Learning Complex and the LAUSD Oil Well Complex.”


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.


MS. SARNOFF:  Number three are exhibits.  These are all within the quarter-mile radius of the school—a very important area because it’s an area that’s looked at more carefully.  And the Environmental Impact Report.  I’m the person who just put in for a extension of the EIR at the Belmont Complex, and that project is going on right now.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So, this information you’re submitting for the record is in regard to Belmont?


MS. SARNOFF: This is a site that was an oil field with dozens of oil wells right on the property there.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  I’m very well aware what Belmont’s all about, Ms. Sarnoff.  I just want to make sure to remind you that this is a hearing about Beverly Hills High School.  There might be some similarities.  I’m not here to judge whether there are or there aren’t, but we will accept all of your information into the record.


MS. SARNOFF:  Does that mean I can’t speak to this?  Because I did go door to door . . . 


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  You did three documents, now we need one more.  You said four documents.


MS. SARNOFF:  Okay.  I also have a journal here from a young woman who lives near the property there.  


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Near what property?


MS. SARNOFF:  Again, the Belmont property.  I assume, since you’re talking about state legislation and you’re talking about school sites, that some of the personal experience that people have is appropriate at a hearing such as this.  I recognize it’s late, and I will not speak much more.  There’s also some readings here and some commentary by Kaye Kilburn, who is a hydrogen sulfite specialist, and that’s in oil and gas, of course, and he’s at USC, and I would hope this committee might consult with him.


And I will stop . . . [recording tape turned – portion of text missing].


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  . . . much of that legislation dealing with safety of children in schools.  I would also let you know that when you look at all those schools that are contaminated, the bulk of them are in my district.  I would also let you know that Park Avenue Elementary School is in my district, and the problem that we had was arsenic coming through the dirt in the kindergarten playground.  So, I do know what personal experience is all about.


Ms. McPherson?


MS. PATRICIA McPHERSON:  My name is Patricia McPherson.  I’m president of Grassroots Coalition.  It’s a troubleshooting organization for health and safety for human health as well as the ecology.  I’ve been involved in oil field/gas issues for over ten years now.


Thank you for having this hearing regarding Beverly Hills High.  It is the tip of the iceberg, Ms. Kuehl had said earlier, to address public issues as well.  We have no state or federal oversight for the protection of human or ecological health and safety from oil field/gas hazards, period.


I would like to let you see, just as an example—you had the Division of Oil and Gas up here.  The wells on the Belmont Learning Center site—the Division of Oil and Gas came up to them and cited them for having a break in a fence.  I was then able to get on a positive note with regard to the AQMD.  


These mom-and-pop oil fields, like the ones that are at the Belmont Learning Center Complex—which L.A. Unified actually owns these wells, and the well is adjacent to this, similar to this donkey pump you see in this foreground picture—the DOG did not cite this open pit area which is full of oil.  This oil has over 200 parts per million of hydrogen sulfide, just testing it right off the bat when the AQMD did come out to the site.  Most of these sites, though, the AQMD doesn’t even take any instrumentation to and neither does the DOG because these are not designated as large oil field areas.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Right.  And this is at Belmont High School?


MS. McPHERSON:  Right.  This is one of the wells that L.A. Unified owns, and we’ve asked them to correct this situation for years.  Mind you, DTSC was very much a part of Belmont Learning Center Complex during the time that we asked them to come up here and correct this situation.  These wells are now abandoned, and that is the result of my bringing the AQMD out there and having L.A. Unified cited for these wells.  They were forced to start cleaning up these wells.  I believe it was too cost effective to try and fix them, and thus, the abandonment occurred.  


Pipes like this also occur in oil field settings with archaic, old equipment.  This has hydrogen sulfide coming out in the hundreds of parts per million as well.  This is a home that’s right back here, that the people complain of dead animal smells, rotten egg smells; that people get sick on a regular basis from these very, very highly toxic chemicals.  Hydrogen sulfide, 1 to 3 parts per million can cause brain damage.


Just to jump to testing.  You asked a lot of good questions about testing:  ppm’s, things like that.  I also work with a site called Playa Vista which is on the Ballona Wetlands.  The Camp Dresser & McKee company also works there for Playa Capital.  I was instrumental in bringing a company from Texas to have oversight with the city that the city hired as a peer reviewer for that site.  Exploration Technology stated in letters that Camp Dresser & McKee did very faulty work in gas testing at the Playa Vista site.  I have more recent documents that explicitly state how they have improperly done gas studies.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Okay, let me ask you a question.  I’m trying to tie it to Beverly Hills High School.


MS. McPHERSON:  That’s why we need the oversight.  That is absolutely why we need to have state or federal oversight:  to monitor how these things are done.  Anyone can go out there and take a sample and drive it into the ground.  In this situation, you will find gas or you won’t find gas.  


I’m sorry—you’re rushing me.  It’s just that the sampling that is done, while it’s not necessarily rocket science, it is very easy to screw up these samples.  And the AQMD with regard to the Beverly Hills site, because I’ve reviewed much of the information there, I have seen leak after leak, after leak, after leak, just like at the Playa Vista site that SoCalGas runs an underground oil field operation there.  Leak after leak, after leak on the surface equipment.  The only reason the AQMD comes out there is because someone calls.  The neighbors get tired of calling.  The calls don’t come, but these leaks continue.  How long do they leak?  If some of the testing that has been done is being done when the leaks have been stopped, that needs to be part of the consideration because there is a pattern, and the pattern is well established at the Beverly Hills High School, as it is at Southern California Gas Company.  These leaks do occur on a regular basis.  These agencies are not working together.


You asked also about the DOG giving an award—how could they give an award?  Well, I asked that, too, of the DOG and I public record requested all of the AQMD information they have.  Bottom line is, they don’t get any AQMD information.  They don’t request any AQMD information.  For instance, at Playa Vista, in the past ten years—or the Southern California Gas Company in Playa Vista—over 60 violations in the past ten years; but meanwhile, the DOG is also giving them awards.  They are totally unaware of these violations, and they don’t care to know about the violations.


There are real problems here, and Beverly Hills High is just the tip of the iceberg with the public’s health and safety that needs to be protected against the oil field industry.  These are very major, very serious issues that are off the radar.  Thankfully, with this lawsuit, as someone said, thank God that this is starting to raise its head into the bigger Pandora’s Box that’s out there, and that is why we need further hearings on this.  I would wish for, ask for, blue-ribbon committee hearings on this issue to extend this into the realm of the public because people think that they can put a school. . . . for instance, the Belmont Learning Center Complex.  We can put a school here; there’s a neighborhood around there.  Well, the Lord knows, I’ve been out there to a home where a baby sat right next to a patch where grass would not grow.  Over 250 parts per million of hydrogen sulfide coming up right there at the surface.  That baby, I can’t believe doesn’t have brain damage.  And yet, this is off the radar.  


The city’s own methane code does not deal with these issues.  The city’s methane code does not deal with toxic issues whatsoever.  The city’s methane code has no accountability whatsoever.  And even the mitigation measures that this city has put forth that might be used at any of these high schools, is there any accountability for how they function?  No.  At the Playa Vista site, it was predicated going forward on that site—if these experimental mitigation measures worked.  The city said they would.  


The Public Record Request that I have documented shows that for the most part, this stuff is not working.  The city knows it’s not working.  This needs to be out in the public domain.  I beg for public hearings on this, for blue-ribbon hearings on this.  There is so much information available.  We’re a whisker away of getting this out to the public.  And these agencies do need to work together, and thus far that’s not happening.


Thank you.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you so much for your testimony.


We have come to the end of the hearing—unless there’s anybody else who wants to do public testimony.  I didn’t get any other signatures.


MS. SARNOFF:  We do have some other visuals here that you might want to take a moment just to look on your way out.  If you wish to, I’d be happy to explain why they’re here.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  You know, I just missed my son’s T-ball game.  I don’t think I’m even going to have time to look at the pictures; I mean, since I already missed my son’s T-ball game.


Thank you.


I have a closing statement here prepared by Senator Ortiz:  It has been an informative hearing, and we thank each and all of you and the witnesses and agencies who testified.  Senator Ortiz is still very concerned about the ability of school districts to address allegations of environmental hazards.  On a statewide basis, we don’t know if the school districts have the expertise to oversee these studies and possible remediation work.  We suspect that that is why so many have turned to DTSC, as we have heard today.


I think the second lesson that we have also learned from today’s hearing is about the prosecution of and enforcement of environmental laws.  We believe that strong enforcement does send a very strong message to polluters.  We have seen today that many schools are close to facilities that have toxic emissions, and we cannot afford to relax our enforcement of these laws.  


Therefore, Senator Ortiz has introduced SB 1211 to repeal the prohibition of civil and criminal penalties for those violations that the South Coast Air Quality Management District and other air districts enforce.  Given what we have heard today, we are also considering moving forward on this legislation.  We are also considering moving on legislation that will name the Department of Toxic Substances Control as the agency in charge of ensuring that existing schools are safe.  They have done a commendable job with new schools, and we do not think that there should be two different standards for schools existing or new schools.


It is also important that all of California schools are clean and safe for our students.  With this hearing I hope it’s a start, but we will consider a continuing discussion with all the stakeholders in order to improve the safety of our schools for all of California’s children.


Meeting adjourned.
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